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Grupo Lamosa is one of the few Mexican companies 
with a century-long track record of success. Today, it 
is one of the main ceramic producers, not only in 
Mexico, but also on a global level, commanding a 
major presence across the Americas.

The company manufactures and markets ceramic 
tiles and adhesives.

The actions implemented over the past few years, 
and particularly in 2016 with the acquisition of 
Cerámica San Lorenzo, have expanded the 
company’s activities in South America, diversifying 
operations and making Grupo Lamosa one of the 
main players in the industry.

Grupo Lamosa’s 125 years in the construction 
market are reflected in the recognition of 
its brands and the quality and 
performance of its high value 
added products.



Leaders must always be  
one step ahead of the market

Over the past years, Grupo Lamosa has taken a 
number of transcendental steps which have allowed 
it to focus on its core businesses and consolidate its 
leadership across its markets. The company has 
invested in technology in times of uncertainty to 
create important competitive advantages; come 
closer to the end consumer by offering innovative 
products that satisfy their tastes and preferences 
and strengthen the value of the Lamosa brands; 
and sought ways to grow outside Mexico that have 
enabled it to diversify operations, leverage synergies 
and build a solid platform for continued growth.

All these actions have added to the company’s size 
and strength, making it a global competitor and 
creating growing value for its stockholders.
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Company businesses

Sales 
Breakdown  
(values)

74% Domestic
26% Foreign

Competitive Advantages
·	 Innovative, market-leading,  

world-class products
·	 Ceramic tiles that contribute to 

sustainable construction by providing 
points for Leadership in Energy and 
Environmental Design (LEED) Certification

·	 First Mexican producer to have its 
products certified under the Green 
Squared sustainable standard of the Tile 
Council of North America (TCNA)

·	 Strategically located to serve  
all the Americas

·	 State-of-the-art production platform

Products and Services
· 	 Floor tiles
· 	 Wall tiles 
· 	 Baseboards
· 	 Porcelain enamel tiles
· 	 Special pieces

17 production centers 
strategically located across 
the continent for better 
market coverage

Wall and floor tiles
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Sales 
Breakdown   
(values)

88% Adhesives
12% Stuccos and other

Competitive Advantages
·	 Products with the most outstanding 

characteristics, performance and quality 
standards in the market

·	 Comprehensive portfolio of products  
with extensive geographic coverage  
across Mexico

·	 Customer-oriented organization
·	 Technological leadership through the 

research and development of specialized 
products for the construction industry

·	 Environmentally-friendly product line

Products and Services
·	 Adhesives for installing wall and floor tiles
·	 Grouts
·	 Stuccos
·	 Texturized finishes
·	 Waterproofing materials
·	 Specialized products
·	 Specialized mortars for construction 

industry needs

13 production facilities 
strategically located across 
Mexico, placing the company 
close to the customer

Presence in Central America with 
ONE plant in Guatemala

Adhesives
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Figures in million pesos	 2015	 2016	 VAR %

RESULTS1

Net sales 2 	 10,636	 13,619	 28

Sales  abroad 3 	 1,594	 2,916	 83

Sales  abroad / Net sales	 15%	 21%

Operating income 	 1,788	 2,441	 37

Operating income / Net sales	 17%	 18%

Comprehensive financing cost  	 639 	 1,115 	 75

Consolidated net income 	 701 	 672 	 (4)

FINANCIAL POSITION

Total assets  	 15,776	 22,762	 44

Total liabilities 	 9,305	 15,563	 67

Stockholders’ equity 	 6,471	 7,199	 11

Book value per share4	 16.9	 18.7	 10

CASH FLOW

Operating cash flow (EBITDA)5	 2,334	 3,124	 34

Capital expenditures	 975	 1,637	 68

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES 

Total personnel6	 4,663	 7,003	 50

1		 In accordance with applicable International Financial Reporting Standards,  
2015 results consider Sanitaryware operations as discontinued.

2	 The operations of Cerámica San Lorenzo were included as of fourth quarter 2016.
3	 Includes sales of foreign subsidiaries and export sales made from Mexico.
4	 On a total of 382.1 million shares in 2015 and 385.8 million shares in 2016.
5	 Operating income plus depreciation and amortization and other virtual items.
6	 2015 figures exclude personnel of Sanitaryware, which was divested during the second quarter,  

and 2016 figures include personnel of Cerámica San Lorenzo, incorporated in the fourth quarter.

Financial highlights
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NOTES:  

•	 For purposes of comparison and in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, figures 
exclude Sanitaryware operations, since they are considered to be discontinued.

•	 The operations of Cerámica San Lorenzo are incorporated as of fourth quarter 2016.

Net sales    
(millions of pesos)

Consolidated net income   
(millions of pesos)

Export sales   
(millions of pesos)

Comprehensive 
financing cost   
(millions of pesos)

Operating income   
(millions of pesos)

Operating cash flow 
(EBITDA)   

(millions of pesos)
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To our stockholders

2016 was an outstanding 
year for Grupo Lamosa, 

with double-digit expansion 
in operating results for the 

second consecutive year 
despite the environment 
of low economic growth 

and significant increases in 
the prices of some of the 

company’s main inputs.
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FEDERICO TOUSSAINT ELOSÚA
Chairman of the Board of Directors  

and Chief Executive Officer

Grupo Lamosa’s vision of making significant and 
timely investments to expand installed capacity, 
assuring its use of world-class technology and 
focusing on satisfying consumers’ needs and 
preferences positioned it to leverage the recovery 
of the Mexican building sector during the year.

Total 2016 sales were $13,619 million pesos, 28% 
above 2015. Operating income was $2,441 million 
pesos and EBITDA $3,124 million pesos, growths 
of 37% and 34%, respectively.

Market activity in Mexico was driven by increased 
job creation, which had a favorable effect on 
domestic consumption. This boosted the 
remodeling market and the conclusion of 
building works, great motors for generating 
demand for the company’s products.

In accordance with Grupo Lamosa’s growth strategy 
and efforts to diversify revenue sources and expand 
operations outside Mexico, during the fourth 
quarter of the year the company announced its 
acquisition of Cerámica San Lorenzo, one of South 
America’s most important ceramic producers. This 
company has a 60-year track record in the market 

and manufactures well-positioned brands such as 
San Lorenzo and Cordillera.

Through the transaction, Grupo Lamosa has 
expanded its production activities in the Americas 
and grown its tile production capacity by 40% as a 
first step in the internationalization of its 
operations, which now encompass Argentina, 
Chile, Colombia and Peru, as well as Mexico.

It is important to note that Grupo Lamosa’s robust 
financial performance and gradual reduction of 
leverage over the past years were key factors for its 
organic and non-organic growth strategy in 2016.

Moreover, the redimensioning of activities makes it 
today the world’s third largest manufacturer of 
ceramic products, commanding the size necessary 
to compete on a global level and a platform to 
continue consolidating its market position across 
the Americas.

Grupo Lamosa would like to thank its stockholders 
once again for their trust, its people for their 
efforts, and its creditors, suppliers, distributors, 
customers and friends for their vital support.
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Over past few  
years, Grupo Lamosa 
has implemented an 

aggressive investment plan  
to expand its production capacity 

and ensure that it operates with 
leading-edge technology. 

Ahead in technology
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The company’s innovative vision to invest at 
times of uncertainty meant taking significant 
risks, but created unique opportunities to 
leverage the sector’s growth over the past two 
years, strengthening Grupo Lamosa’s position 
across its markets.

The good results of the year largely reflect these 
timely investments, which gave the company the 
capacity to capitalize on the growing use of 
ceramic products in building, expansion and 
remodeling works. Thus, technology has been a 
key factor for keeping Grupo Lamosa at the 
forefront of the industry.
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The ceramic 
tile industry 

has been radically 
transformed over 

the past years. Product life
cycles have declined significantly and 

factors such as fashion-driven designs 
have become increasingly important, 

making constant innovation a key differentiator 
for keeping ahead of market trends. 

Ahead in innovation and design
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The Wall and Floor Tiles Business is aware 
of all of this and has developed new 
capabilities not only for manufacturing, but 
also for designing and marketing the 
company’s products successfully.

During the year, the segment’s portfolios 
were upgraded and enriched with a focus 
on products with the greatest value added 
and more varied offerings. To position the 
company more aggressively in the market, 
in 2016 all the tiles brands were redefined 
and renovated. These efforts should bear 
fruit as of next year, as Lamosa products 
become more closely associated with 
quality, innovation and market leadership.

In parallel, the Adhesives Business has 
taken advantage of the increased 
specialization required for the installation of 
the latest products to develop new lines 
adapted to each particular situation and 
use. As a result, the segment posted 
significant growth during the year, further 
enhancing its market leadership.
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For many 
years, Grupo 

Lamosa has been 
looking to expand its 

presence beyond Mexico’s 
borders. In 2016, the company 

was able to capitalize on a great 
opportunity in South America which, 

without doubt, represents a major step 
forward in its growth strategy.

Ahead in growth
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The acquisition of Cerámica San Lorenzo and its 
two main brands, San Lorenzo and Cordillera, 
advances the internationalization of Grupo 
Lamosa’s production processes, which now 
encompass Argentina, Chile, Colombia and Peru, 
as well as Mexico. Important challenges need to 
be overcome in the short term: facing the 
increased complexity of operations, integrating 
different business cultures in order to take 
advantage of the best of each, and identifying 
synergies that can be leveraged.

However, the long-term benefits will be considerable, 
since this transaction gives the company a strategic 
and privileged position to satisfy ceramic product 
needs across the Americas, consolidating its market 
leadership position in the region. It also opens up 
opportunities for the Adhesives Business to grow as a 
natural complement to ceramic tiles.

The Adhesives Business also expanded significantly 
during the year, driven by the diversification and 
specialization of its product lines. To expand its pro-
duction capacity, three new plants were built. These  
will begin operations at the beginning of 2017.
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It is indispensable for 
a company to have the 

right size if it is to compete 
in the global marketplace. The 

Wall and Floor Tiles Business annual 
production capacity is equivalent to 

circle our planet in 80 days. 

Ahead in size
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The integration of Cerámica San Lorenzo makes 
Grupo Lamosa the world’s third largest ceramic 
producer and the second in the Americas. It also 
helps to significantly diversify risk, reducing the 
company’s dependence on the domestic market. 
The acquisition represents a watershed in the 
company’s recent history, providing a platform to 
continue expanding outside Mexico. 

The Adhesives Business, which has grown 
outstandingly over the past few years, has also 
benefitted from Grupo Lamosa’s leadership position 

to continue diversifying its markets in Mexico, 
increasing its domestic market presence and 
preparing to leverage opportunities abroad.

In conclusion, the company’s investments in 
technology and production capacity, offering of 
innovative products to satisfy consumer needs and 
tastes, strengthening of brand value and expanding 
of operations geographically to diversify markets 
have made Grupo Lamosa an important global 
player, with the strength and size necessary to 
continue growing and creating value.
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In 2016, the Wall and 
Floor Tiles Business 

capitalized on the 
increase in demand 
for its products and 
the growth that had 

been observed in the 
industry since the 

end of 2014.

Wall and floor tiles
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2016 sales for the segment were 34% above 
those of 2015, driven by its proactive 
perception of the market recovery and 
consequent decision to invest in capacity 
expansion to satisfy the needs of an 
increasingly demanding and informed 
customer base.

Another aspect that contributed to the 
business’s performance was the determination 
of the Mexican national trade authorities to 
remedy the disloyal competition resulting from 
the dumping of imported ceramic products in 
Mexico. Its resolutions, involving the imposing 
of compensatory duties, contributed to the 
promotion of healthy competition in the market 
and assured fair, clear conditions with regard 
to product quality, technical characteristics and 
prices, all of this for the benefit of the consumer.

Net sales   
(millions of pesos)

34% 
growth

16
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One of the highlights of 2016 was the start up of a 
new plant in Guanajuato during the second half of 
the year. This facility boasts leading-edge technology, 
was specially designed for manufacturing porcelain 
products and underscores the company’s focus on 
offering high value added products for the medium 
and high-end market segments.

During the year, the Wall and Floor Tiles Business 
continued its initiatives to reposition its brands 
according to specific target markets. In the 
particular case of the luxury Firenze brand, the 
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business launched new products with qualities 
and designs on a level with any high-end 
European equivalent, but with the advantages 
implicit in locally manufactured products, such 
as greater availability, reduced lead times and 
lower prices.

In 2016, the business took part in trade fairs 
and exhibitions both in Mexico and abroad, 
such as Coverings during the second quarter of 
the year. This fair, held in the United States, is 
the largest global tile event in North America.

It also took part in Expo CIHAC in Mexico City at the 
end of the year, capitalizing on the opportunity to 
present the new 2017 collections, where natural 
stone and wood designs were particularly well 
received. The product lines launched included the 
new Royal Wood tile in a 20 x 120 cm format, and 
the Capetown series of large rustic tiles for covering 
building facades.

Without doubt, the highlight of the year was the 
acquisition of Cerámica San Lorenzo, a company 
with a market presence in Argentina, Chile, 
Colombia and Peru, and its two main brands: San 
Lorenzo and Cordillera. The transaction was the 
successful culmination of a prolonged process, 
through which this business sought options to 
diversify and geographically expand its production 
activities in the Americas.

The incorporation of the operations of Cerámica 
San Lorenzo as of the fourth quarter of the year 
represents a significant challenge for a near future 
characterized by an environment of great 
uncertainty. The business will begin a period of 
integrating the different cultures, business 
practices and production processes, and will 
identify and capitalize on the resulting synergies in 
the short and medium term.
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Adhesives

The economic environment in 2016 continued to 
be favorable for the Adhesives Business, which 
closed the year with positive results and an annual 
sales growth of 14%.

The business’s positive performance was achieved 
despite significant increases in the cost of some of 
its main inputs, reflecting the depreciation of the 
peso against the dollar as well as extraordinary 
price hikes in the cement industry.

During the year, the business made progress with 
adapting to the specific installation needs of new, 
increasingly sophisticated, differently sized ceramic 
products. It also implemented commercial initiatives 
to continue enhancing its brand value, through 
digital and the mass media, and at the point of sale. 
For example, the Crest campaign “Don’t get mixed 
up, each product has a specific function” (No te 
confundas, cada uno a su función) was aimed at 
reinforcing the correct use of adhesives specifically 
adapted for each particular application.
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In order to promote its different product lines 
and continue growing its presence both in 
Mexico and beyond its borders, in 2016 the 
Adhesives Business took part in fairs and 
exhibitions, such as Coverings in the United 
States and Expo CIHAC in Mexico City. It also 
organized installer events, such as Installer Day, 
which attracted more than 2,000 participants.

The specialized SLTK mortar line, launched in 
2015, advanced significantly in 2016, with sales 
volume doubling year-over-year. New products 
were developed to complement the line and 
assure a range of offerings to satisfy the 
diverse market needs.

In response to the enhanced market activity 
and favorable results of 2015, during the year 
the segment determined to expand its 
installed capacity. Thus, it began the 
construction of three manufacturing facilities 
in the states of Hidalgo, Chihuahua and 
Morelia. These production centers will begin 
operations during the first half of 2017, 
underpinning the presence of the Adhesives 
Business in the three regions.

Net sales   
(millions of 

pesos)

14% 
growth
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Financial performance

In 2016, Grupo Lamosa continued to operate with 
a solid financial position, attractive margins and 
favorable cash flow generation and was thus able 
to implement one of its most aggressive 
investment plans of the past few years.

$1,637 million pesos were invested during the year, 
largely from the company’s internal cash flow. The 
resources were used to satisfy operating needs and 
expand production capacity at several production 
centers, as well as to build new plants, including a 
new porcelain plant in the state of Guanajuato.

One of the great highlights of 2016 was the closing 
of the acquisition of Cerámica San Lorenzo in South 
America for a total amount of approximately U.S. 
$230 million dollars. The transaction was funded 
with debt under more favorable leverage conditions 
and with less risk than in the case of past 
acquisitions. Thus, the company’s net debt to 
EBITDA ratio at yearend 2016 was 2.8 times.

Financing for the purchase of Cerámica San 
Lorenzo was obtained from two debt operations 
with committed credit lines, through which Grupo 
Lamosa also pushed out the settlement dates and 
average life of its debt, significantly improving its 
repayment profile.

In 2016, the company paid its stockholders 
dividends in cash and shares in accordance with 
that decreed at the Annual Stockholders’ Assembly.

Grupo Lamosa continued to take part in the 
Mexican Stock Exchange’s Independent Analyst 
Program during the year, in order to continue 
providing the market with objective, periodic 
analytical reports on its activities, thereby 
benefitting current and potential investors in 
Mexico and abroad. 

Grupo Lamosa made no transactions with the 
shares representing its capital stock in 2016.

Net Debt 
(millions of pesos)

Debt Profile   
(Dec. 2016)
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Corporate governance

During the year, Grupo Lamosa continued to 
comply with the different Stock Market rules and 
regulations, closing the year with a very high level 
of compliance with the Code of Best Corporate 
Practices issued by the Mexican Business 
Coordinating Council (Consejo Coordinador 
Empresarial, CCE).

In 2016, the Mexican National Banking and 
Securities Commission (Comisión Nacional Bancaria 
y de Valores) gave Grupo Lamosa a favorable rating 
for its timely presentation of the periodic 
information that issuers are obliged to disclose to 
the market in accordance with current regulations.

A highlight of 2016 was Grupo Lamosa’s 
celebration of 65 years of listing on the Mexican 
Stock Exchange. This achievement underscores 
the company’s commitment to being a transparent 
company that promotes best corporate practices 
for the benefit of its different stakeholders.

Grupo Lamosa operates with specific mechanisms 
to ensure the clear assigning of roles and 
responsibilities, both for management and for the 
distinct corporate governance structures, avoiding 
conflicts of interest and promoting effective, 
institutional decision-making.

Members of the Audit Committee  
CARLOS ZAMBRANO PLANT
Chairman

EDUARDO PADILLA SILVA
EDUARDO GARZA T FERNÁNDEZ
MAXIMINO JOSÉ MICHEL GONZÁLEZ

Members of the Corporate Practices Committee
EDUARDO ELIZONDO BARRAGÁN
Chairman

BERNARDO ELOSÚA ROBLES
ARMANDO GARZA SADA
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Our commitment  
to sustainability

Message from the CEO:
 
In this report, Grupo Lamosa is presenting its sustainability 
results for the fourth consecutive year. The achievements 
of 2016 reflect the company’s focus on specific economic, 
social and environmental goals and objectives across the 
different levels of the organization in accordance with its 
sustainability model.

During the year, Grupo Lamosa took a great step forward 
when it acquired Cerámica San Lorenzo in South America, 
expanding its operations in Argentina, Chile, Peru and 
Colombia. This transaction, aligned with the company’s 
growth and diversification strategy, makes it a more global 
and diverse player but implies significant challenges and 
opportunities in the area of sustainability.

Aware of the importance of promoting actions to drive 
corporate social responsibility in the areas of Human and 
Labor Rights, the Environment and the Fight against 
Corruption, Grupo Lamosa reiterates its commitment to 
voluntarily complying with the Principles of the United 
Nations Global Compact.
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Enhanced 
economic impact 

in the region as 
the world’s

 3rd 

largest ceramic 
producer, with 

31
plants 

operating in 

5 
nations of 

the American 
continent.

Mexico

Guatemala

Colombia

Peru

Chile Argentina

+$230 
million dollars  
invested in the 
purchase of 
Cerámica San Lorenzo.

+180 
million m2 
of annual tile 
production capacity. 

15 countries 
across the Americas 
where the company’s 
products are sold.

+$1,630
million pesos  
invested in 2016 to grow 
production capacity and 
update technology.

+1,950 
direct jobs  
added to Grupo Lamosa 
with the acquisition of 
Cerámica San Lorenzo.

Grupo Lamosa boasts a diverse labor 
force and respects cultural multiplicity 
as a factor for growth and development.

* Chile only has  
distribution centers
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Action areas

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT
Business model, product 
    and process innovation
Economic value creation 
Local supplier development
Investment in the community 
 
SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT
Quality of life for employees and their families
Respect for human rights and diversity
Anti-corruption actions
Social investment 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL DEVELOPMENT
Innovation
Energy
Water
Reduction in emissions
Product recovery

STAKEHOLDERS

Stockholders/Investors Customers Employees Suppliers

•	 Stockholders’ assembly.
•	 Investor relations.
•	 Transparency line.
•	 Meetings with analysts.
•	 Reports on results.

•	 Focus groups.
•	 Transparency line.
•	 Visits from commercial 

advisors.
•	 Internet site.

•	 Labor climate evaluation.
•	 Transparency line.
•	 Growth and  

development plans.

•	 Transparency line.
•	 Signing of agreements and clauses to 

protect human rights and promote 
sustainability.

•	 Development of local suppliers and SMEs 
(Small and medium-sized enterprises).

Community Government Academia Media

•	 Transparency line.
•	 Donations program.
•	 Dialog with neighbors.
•	 Volunteer projects.

•	 Participation in 
meetings and 
consultation forums.

•	 Relations with 
government entities.

•	 Agreements for  
research projects.

•	 Plant visits.
•	 Student internships.

•	 Press conferences.
•	 Interviews and reports.
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Economic development

SOURCING
During 2016, Grupo Lamosa continued to promote 
new procurement alternatives, taking part in 
programs set up by the Mexican Competitiveness 
Center (Centro de Competitividad de México (CCMX)) and 
other organizations to drive the development and 
professionalization of its SME suppliers.

Together with other issuer companies, the company 
took part in a Networking Commission in order to 
promote and expand opportunities for SME suppliers 
with these companies.

2014 2015 2016 Main topics

Diploma 
courses 6 5 11

Organizational culture, 
strategy, planning and 

innovation.

Advisory 
support 27 35 42

Management, market, 
finance, business 

operating processes and 
human resources.

53 Lamosa SME suppliers took 
part in diploma courses and 

received advisory support.

+90% 
of Grupo Lamosa’s suppliers 
were Mexican in 2016.

In 2016, Grupo Lamosa grew through acquisitions 
such as the purchase of Cerámica San Lorenzo in 
South America and the continued expansion of its 
operations in Mexico. As a result of these actions, 
the company continued to contribute to enhancing 
economic development and the creation of job 
opportunities in the regions where it operates. For 
example, Grupo Lamosa’s different businesses built 
new production centers during the year, including a 
new plant for manufacturing porcelain products in 
the state of Guanajuato.

New porcelain product plant in 
Guanajuato generating 300 direct jobs.
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Social development

HEALTH AND SAFETY 
During the year, all Lamosa 
production centers implemented 
initiatives to continue enhancing the 
industrial safety of the company’s 
facilities, in accordance with the 
annual program of health and safety.

The main objectives of this program 
include keeping personnel up to date 
on new techniques for reacting to 
emergencies, so that they are trained 
to take immediate action and avoid 
injuries during contingencies.

In 2016, the company’s businesses 
continued to hold “Health Week” 
events, encouraging employees to 
take care of themselves through talks 
given by health experts. Sports 
activities were also held during the 
year, as well as evacuation simulation 
exercises in partnership with official 
civil protection institutions.

51 events involving 
simulations and Health Weeks.

70 sporting events, 
with the participation 

of more than 
3,000 employees.
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TRAINING
In 2016, Grupo Lamosa continued to provide its 
employees with opportunities for increasing their 
skills, knowledge and capabilities through diverse 
internal and external training programs, thus 
helping them to be successful in their daily activities.

2014 2015 2016

Hours of training 133,451 61,040 65,503

Amount invested  
(millions of pesos) $4.9 $6.1 $7.9

DIVERSITY 
During the year, Grupo Lamosa focused on a 
series of goals designed to generate job 
opportunities in the organization for the 
handicapped and other people with special needs, 
including workers with visual, motor and hearing 
limitations.

Business / Area of work No. Type of 
handicap

Adhesives / Production 1 Motor

Tiles / Enameling, 
kilns, classification 7 Motor, visual, 

speech, hearing

TOTAL 8

The integration of Cerámica San Lorenzo in the last 
quarter of 2016 increased Grupo Lamosa’s cultural 
diversity, such that its work force now includes 
personnel in Mexico, Guatemala, Chile, Colombia, 
Peru and Argentina.

2016 2015 2014
Employees Union 

members 
Total Total Total

Total 2,956 4,047 7,003 4,663 5,600

Sex

Men 2,090 3,650 5,740 3,900 4,768

Women 866 397 1,263 763 832

Age range (years)

Less 
than 20 - 41 41 21 46

20-29 431 1,214 1,645 1,093 1,613

30-39 1,305 1,605 2,910 1,867 2,299

40-49 858 850 1,708 1,209 1,221

50-59 329 323 652 445 387

Over 60 33 14 47 28 34

Nationality

Mexican 2,216 2,785 5,001 4,569 5,507

Other 740 1,262 2,002 94 93

The Mexican Ministry of Labor and 
Social Welfare (Secretaría del Trabajo 

y Previsión Social) recognized the 
Pavillion Tile Plant in the state of 

Tlaxcala as an “Inclusive Company”.
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CORRUPTION 
In accordance with the Principles of the United 
Nations Global Compact, Grupo Lamosa continues 
to promote its Transparency Line. This initiative 
involves different media, including communication 
by e-mail, telephone and on-line through a form 
on the company’s website. It offers total 
confidentiality and reinforces the standards of 
integrity and transparency in accordance with the 
Grupo Lamosa Code of Ethics, benefitting not only 
the company, but also all its stakeholder groups.

Complaints referred and 
resolved through the 

Transparency Line

Complaints related 
to acts of corruption

2014 97 27

2015 60 20

2016 96 31

HUMAN RIGHTS
Grupo Lamosa continued to promote the 
principles contained in its Code of Ethics, which 
include the respect for the dignity of others, 
their liberty and their privacy, rejecting all kinds 
of discrimination on the basis of such 
characteristics as sex, marital status, religion, 
ethnicity and nationality.

In 2016, all newly hired personnel 
took part in an induction course, 

which included instruction on the 
company’s Code of Ethics.

During 2016, 44 complaints 
related to Human Rights were 
received and resolved through 
the Transparency Line.

During the year, 490 employees and 
workers took part in the Let’s do it Right 

(Hagámoslo Bien) initiative, designed to 
foster a culture of legality.

More than 95% of Grupo Lamosa’s 
suppliers have contracts that 
include clauses related to the 

environment and human rights.
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SOCIAL INVESTMENT 
AND VOLUNTEER PROGRAMS
In 2016, all Grupo Lamosa businesses 
implemented social development and 
volunteer programs, with specific goals set for 
the year. Projects were related to the 
particular needs of the communities close to 
the company’s production centers and, in 
most cases, were supported not only by 
Lamosa personnel but also by their families.

BUSINESS PLANT/OFFICES PROJECT ACTIVITIES

Tiles Porcel Plant, Tlaxcala Improvement of a 
public park

Plant personnel participating in the improvement 
of the San Marcos public park in Tlaxcala.

Tiles Corporate Offices, Tower 1, 
San Pedro Garza García

Visit to an old 
people’s home

Office personnel visiting old people and giving 
them warm winter clothing.

Tiles Porcel, Pavillion, Gres & 
Kerámica Plants in Tlaxcala Escuela Digna Plant personnel beginning an institutional program to supply the 

company’s products to local schools in the state of Tlaxcala. 

Tiles Italgres Plant, Guanajuato
Improvement of a 
rural elementary 

school

Building walls, fences and safe accesses 
to protect the students of the Mexican Military School 

in San José de Iturbide in the state of Guanajuato.

Adhesives Crest Plant, Tizayuca
Delivery of groceries 

to a community 
center

Plant personnel delivering groceries to the 
Rosas Rojas Children’s Home in Tizayuca.

Adhesives Niasa Offices,
Mexico City

Improvement of the 
infrastructure of a 
children’s home

Office staff and their families waterproofing bathrooms 
and painting railings and the façade of the Granja para 

Niños la Esperanza Children’s Home in Mexico City.

Adhesives Crest Plant, Santa
Catarina, N.L.

Visit to a 
children’s home

Plant personnel giving time to the La Misericordia 
Home for children with cerebral palsy.

Corporate Corporate Offices, Tower 1, 
San Pedro Garza García

Visit to a 
children’s home

Office staff organizing a Christmas party for the children 
of the Refugio 121 Children’s Home in Monterrey.

Escuela Digna 
Program in Tlaxcala.

Improvements to a 
rural elementary school, 
Italgres Plant, Guanajuato.

Visit of personnel 
from the company’s 
Corporate Offices to the 
Refugio 121 Children’s 
Home in Monterrey.
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Environmental development

ENERGY, WATER AND CO2 EMISSIONS
At the end of 2016, a new co-generation plant 
came on line at the tile plant in Benito Juárez, 
N.L., enhancing the energy efficiency of its 
operations. The electricity generated by this 
power plant is classified as “clean energy” and 
thus contributes to the company’s 
sustainability objectives.

Start-up of a new co-generation 
plant, thereby promoting the use 
of clean energy.

Reforestation activities in the areas 
surrounding the Perdura Adhesives Plant in 
León, Guanajuato, represent just one example 
of the initiatives implemented in 2016 to 
contribute to the environment. 

In 2016, Grupo Lamosa continued to 
promote its used-battery collection 
campaign, contributing to the conservation 
of water supplies. The initiative involves 
explaining to company employees the risk of 
carelessly discarding batteries which are 
highly polluting because of the heavy metals 

they contain. As a result, batteries from the 
homes of office and plant personnel in the states 
of Nuevo León and Guanajuato were properly 
disposed of through specialized waste-
management companies.

Year Batteries 
recovered

Environmental impact 
(millions of liters of water* 

not polluted)

2014 4,892 817

2015 4,696 784

2016 4,087 683

*Estimation based on the assumption that one alkaline 
battery pollutes 167 thousand liters of water.

Battery-collection campaign, 
Benito Juárez Tile Plant, N.L.
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PRODUCT RECOVERY
In 2016, Grupo Lamosa increased the material it 
recovered by 1,345 tons, 42% more than the 
volume posted in 2015.

During the year, the company continued to confine 
materials and register recoverable products in 
accordance with established internal procedures,  
in order to continue contributing to pre-established 
environmental protection initiatives.

2014 2015 2016

Wood 898,790 1,217,213 1,640,936

Cardboard/Paper 832,961 986,712 1,251,376

Metal 424,451 738,158 1,361,618

Plastics 225,623 268,432 209,602

Other 30,213 26,269 118,284

Total material 
recovered in Kg. 2,412,038 3,236,783 4,581,816

In 2016, Grupo Lamosa made significant 
progress with the Clean Industry (Industria 
Limpia) Certification of its plants. During the 
year, the Wall and Floor Tiles Business 
obtained such certification for its Kerámika, 
Porcel and Pavillion Plants in Tlaxcala, and 
Italgres I in Querétaro. In addition, the 
business began the process of certifying 
three other plants in Tlaxcala, Guanajuato 
and San Luis Potosí. 

The Adhesives Business also began the 
process of certifying some of its plants, such 
as the Perdura Plant in León, Guanajuato.
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Board of directors

FEDERICO TOUSSAINT ELOSÚA
Chairman of the Board and  
Chief Executive Officer of Grupo Lamosa
Member since 1989 
Related

BERNARDO ELOSÚA ROBLES
Independent Consultant
Member since 1993 
Related
Corporate Practices Committee

GUILLERMO BARRAGÁN ELOSÚA
CEO of Hidrobart
Member since 1993 
Related

JAVIER SAAVEDRA VALDÉS
Professional Painter
Member since 1998 
Related

JOSÉ MANUEL VALVERDE VALDÉS
CEO of Financiera Educativa de México, SOFOM
Member since 1998 
Related

ANDRÉS BERNARDO ELOSÚA GONZÁLEZ
Director of General Lafon Launay Cosmetics
Member since 2007
Related

EDUARDO ELIZONDO BARRAGÁN
Chairman of the Board  
and CEO of CRIOTEC and Subsidiaries
Member since 1992 
Independent
Corporate Practices Committee

ARMANDO GARZA SADA
Chairman of the Board of ALFA
Member since 1997 
Independent
Corporate Practices Committee

CARLOS ZAMBRANO PLANT
Consultant
Member since 1991 
Independent
Audit Committee 

EDUARDO PADILLA SILVA
CFO of FEMSA
Member since 2004
Independent
Audit Committee

EDUARDO GARZA T FERNÁNDEZ
Chairman of the Board of Grupo Frisa Industrias
Member since 2012 
Independent
Audit Committee

MAXIMINO JOSÉ MICHEL GONZÁLEZ
Operations Manager of Liverpool
Member since 2009 
Independent
Audit Committee

Classification of “Related” and “Independent” 
according to the Annual Ordinary Stockholders’ 

Assembly of March 16, 2016
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Main company officers

From left to right:

SERGIO NARVÁEZ GARZA
Wall and Floor Tiles Vice-President 

TOMÁS LUIS GARZA DE LA GARZA
Chief Financial Officer 

FEDERICO TOUSSAINT ELOSÚA
Chief Executive Officer and 
Chairman of the Board of Directors of Grupo Lamosa

JORGE MANUEL ALDAPE LUENGAS
Adhesives Vice-President 

JULIO RAFAEL VARGAS QUINTANILLA
Human Resources Vice-President 
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Audit committee report

As Chairman of the Audit Committee, I would like to 
present to you the report on this Committee’s activities in 
relation to the financial year ended December 31, 2016, 
pursuant to Company Statutes and the current Law:

1.	 We reviewed the reports of the external auditor 
and on the results of the internal audit for the year 
of 2016.

2.	 To date, this Audit Committee has no knowledge of 
any incompliance with the operating and accounting 
guidelines and policies of the Company and its 
Subsidiaries.

3.	 This Committee has met with the representative of 
the firm of external auditors and evaluated the 
performance both of the firm and the auditor 
responsible therefor. The firm and the auditor in 
charge are responsible for expressing an opinion 
on the fairness of the Company’s financial 
statements and their compliance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards. At the current time, 
we believe the performance of the firm and its 
auditors to be satisfactory.

4.	 This Committee authorized payment to the firm that 
supplied external auditing and additional services to 
the Company for the fiscal year of 2016.

5.	 This Committee gave a favorable opinion for the 
acquisition of Cerámica San Lorenzo, as well as for the 
obtaining of the financing necessary for said transaction.

6.	 We reviewed the survey and report on the operations 
of the Grupo Lamosa Transparency Line, ensuring 
that the cases received are being treated in 
accordance with the principles set out in the 
Company’s Code of Ethics. 

7.	 During the year, nothing worthy of note was observed 
with regard to the accounting, internal controls, or 
internal and external auditing, nor were there any 
complaints relating to irregularities on the part of 
Management. In the opinion of this Committee, the 
Company continues to make significant progress with 
its corporate governance and internal control systems. 

8.	 This Committee gave the Board of Directors a 
favorable opinion on the Annual Report of the Chief 
Executive Officer and on the report on operations and 
activities in which the Board was involved, 
corresponding to the fiscal year of 2016.

9.	 On the basis of the external auditors’ report, this 
Committee believes that the accounting and 
information policies and criteria followed by the 
Company are adequate and sufficient, and have been 
applied consistently in the information presented by 
the Chief Executive Officer and by the Board of 
Directors, reflecting fairly the Company’s financial 
position and results.  

Carlos Zambrano Plant
Chairman

February 24, 2017
To the Board of Directors of  Grupo Lamosa, S.A.B. de C.V. (“the Company”)
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As Chairman of the Corporate Practices Committee,  
I would like to present to you the report on this Com-
mittee’s activities in relation to the financial year ended 
December 31, 2016 pursuant to Company Statutes and 
the current Law: 

1.	 We reviewed the previously defined goals, and 
individual and Company performance during the year, 
as well as any observations on the performance of 
Company officers. 

2.	 We reviewed the conditions and structure used to 
determine the total salary and benefit packages of the 
Chief Executive Officer and Company officers on the basis of 
market trends. 

3.	 No transactions with related parties were made during the year.
4.	 This Committee gave no authorization for any board member, 

Company officer or person in a position of command to take 
advantage of business opportunities – either for themselves 
or for third parties – that correspond to the Company or its 
Subsidiaries, and is not aware that the Board of Directors or any 
other Committee has done so.

5.	 The Corporate Practices Committee will continue carrying out 
all the actions necessary to comply with the legal and statutory 
requirements that govern it.

Eduardo Elizondo Barragán
Chairman

February 24, 2017
To the Board of Directors of  Grupo Lamosa, S.A.B. de C.V. (“the Company”)

Corporate practices committee report
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to the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Grupo Lamosa, S. A. B. de C. V.

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Grupo Lamosa, S. A. B. de C. V. and Subsidiaries 
(the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and 
the related consolidated statements of income, other comprehensive income, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash 
flows for the years then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all the material respects, the financial 
position of the Company as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and their financial performance and their cash flows for 
the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISA”). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor´s Responsibilities for the Audit of Financial Statements section of our report. 
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code 
of Ethics for professional Accountants (IESBA Code) and with the Ethics Code issued by the Mexican Institute of Public 
Accountants (“IMCP Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code and 
IMCP Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were more important in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters have been addressed in the context of our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole and in the disclosure of our opinion thereon, and we did not express a 
separate opinion on those audit matters. We have determined that the matters described below are the key audit matters 
to be disclosed in our report.

•	 Acquisition of Cerámica San Lorenzo and Cordillera

As mentioned in Note 2, the Company acquired 100% of the shares of 6 entities that comprise Cerámica San Lorenzo 
and Cordillera, which are located in Argentina, Chile, Peru and Colombia. This acquisition is classified as a business 
combination; therefore, the Company is using the “Purchase Method” pursuant to IFRS 3, Business Combinations, to 
account for the assignment of the purchase price. As part of the recognition of net assets acquired in these transactions, 
the Company is in the process of obtaining fair values of certain tangible and intangible assets, with the support of 
independent appraisers. As of December 31, 2016, an estimated goodwill of $1,634,526 thousand Mexican pesos has 
been recorded; therefore, that line item can be amended. Our audit procedures mainly included:

a)	 Verified that contractual aspects and events occurred as of the acquisition date, and therefore, date on which 
control was taken, are in conformity with IFRS 3, by reviewing the correct incorporation of the consolidated financial 
statements of the assets acquired, identifiable liabilities assumed, and the results for the three months ended 
December 31, 2016, applying the Company’s accounting policies.

b)	 Verified the compliance with the disclosures of the business combination in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements.

Regarding the aforementioned audit procedures, the results were reasonable.

Independent Auditors’ Report



40

•	 Bank debt

As mentioned in Note 15, in order to acquire Cerámica San Lorenzo and Cordillera, the Company signed an 
amendment to the long-term loan agreement corresponding to the debt originally acquired on November 30, 
2007, and previously refinanced in 2011 and 2014, maturing in 2021. As part of the amendment, a new debt of 
$200 million U.S. dollars was acquired. Regarding the commissions for contracting the debt, the Company analyzed 
whether according to IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, they should be recognized in 
results for the significance of this line item and its effects on the consolidated financial statements. Our audit 
procedures included, among others:

a)	 Verified the compliance with restrictions and do-not obligations set forth in debt agreements.

b)	 Obtained the confirmation from the financial institution to validate the principal balances, and their correct valuation 
in Mexican pesos, and the amount and valuation in Mexican pesos of accrued and outstanding interest.

c)	 Reviewed the calculation set forth in IAS 39 prepared by management to assess whether the debt renegotiation 
exceeds the thresholds required by the accounting standards to be considered as new debt, and thus assess 
whether the commissions for contracting it should be recognized in earnings or not.

Regarding the aforementioned audit procedures, the results were reasonable.

•	 Unamortized intangible assets

Given the significance of unamortized intangible assets, it is important to make sure that unamortized intangible 
assets impairment is reviewed appropriately to identify potential impairment, where necessary.

Determining whether the carrying amount of unamortized intangible assets is recoverable requires the Entity’s 
management to make significant estimates related to cash flows, discount rates and their growth, based on the 
point of view of management about future business prospects.

During our audit procedures, we, among others:

a)	 Reviewed the identification of relevant Cash Generating Units (CGU) of the group.

b)	 Understood the process followed by the Company to determine fair value and relevant control estimates in order to 
assess the risk of significant errors related to fair value estimates, and to develop an appropriate audit approach.

c)	 Obtained the fair value analysis.

d)	 Assessed whether the valuation techniques are appropriate in the circumstances, and whether the techniques used 
to determine the fair value are applied in conformity with prior years.

e)	 Assessed the reasonableness of the valuation assumptions used in the fair value analysis, and whether the valuation 
assumptions are consistent with what a market participant would use to determine the price.

f)	 Assessed whether the fair value model used is appropriate in the Company’s circumstances.

g)	 Carried out a sensitivity analysis to compare the Company’s value estimate.

h)	 Assessed the evidence obtained from the review of fair value estimates, and that such evidence is consistent with the 
audit aspects.

i)	 Assessed whether the fair value estimate in the financial statements is in conformity with the applicable accounting 
framework.

j)	 Verified the completeness and accuracy of the information used for projections, and compared key assumptions to 
external information of the industry.

The results of our audit tests were reasonable and we agree that the assumptions used, including the discount 
rate and the impairment amount of the unamortized intangible assets recorded in the year, were appropriate.
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Other Matters

The Company’s management is responsible for the other information. The other information will include the other 
information that will be incorporated in the Annual Report that the Company must prepare pursuant to Article 33, 
Section I, Subsection b)) of the Fourth Title, First Chapter of the General Provisions Applicable to Issuers and other 
Participants in the Mexican Stock Exchange and the Instructions attached to these provisions (the Provisions). The 
Annual Report will be available for our reading after the date of this audit report.

Our opinion of the consolidated financial statements will not cover the other information and we will not express any 
form of assurance about it.

 In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility will be to read the Annual 
Report, when available, and when we do so, to consider whether the other information contained therein is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or with our knowledge obtained during the audit, or it appears 
to contain a material error. When we read the Annual Report, we will issue the legend on the reading of the annual 
report required by Article 33, Section I, Subsection b), number 1.2 of the Provisions.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been translated into English for the convenience of readers.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company´s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters, related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative 
but to do so.

 Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company´s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISA will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISA, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

a)	 Identify and asses the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or override of internal control.

b)	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control.
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c)	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management.

d)	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management´s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors´ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

e)	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.

We will also provide those responsible for the Company’s government with a statement on our fulfillment of relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and will communicate any relationship and other matters that might be 
thought to affect our independence and, when applicable, the related safeguards.

Among the matters that have been subject to communications with those responsible for the Company’s government, we 
determined that those of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements, are the key audit matters. 
We described these matters in this audit report, except for those legal or regulatory provisions that prohibit the public 
disclosure of the matter or, in extremely infrequent circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be disclosed 
in our report, because it is reasonable to expect that the adverse consequences of doing so would overcome the public 
benefits thereof.

Galaz, Yamazaki, Ruiz Urquiza, S. C.
Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited

C. P. C. Carlos Iván Pólito Ruiz
February 3, 2017
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	 NOTES 	 2016 	 2015

ASSETS
Current assets:
	 Cash and cash equivalents	 7	 $	      538,866       	 $	   1,371,456
	 Accounts receivable, net	 8		  3,128,598		  2,313,318
	 Inventories	 9		  2,679,417		  1,476,496
	 Other current assets	 10		  467,591		  664,080
		  Current assets			   6,814,472		  5,825,350
Real estate inventories	 11		  126,172		  126,314
Property, plant and equipment, net	 12		  8,663,815		  4,759,419
Intangible assets, net	 13		  6,039,557		  4,419,253
Deferred income taxes	 22		  1,028,832		  573,043
Other non-current assets		  89,029	 72,187
Total			   $	 22,761,877	 $	 15,775,566

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
	 Current portion of long-term debt	 15	 $	      426,985     	 $	      448,987         
	 Current portion of finance lease liability 	 16	 	 51,566	 	 36,474
	 Current portion of derivative financial instruments	 6.2.5	 	 49,410	 	 79,598
	 Trade accounts payable			   1,843,972		  1,104,941
	 Income taxes	 22		  470,383		  837,246
	 Other current liabilities	 14		  1,396,916		  605,715
		  Current liabilities			   4,239,232		  3,112,961
Long-term debt	 15		  9,318,689		  4,352,983
Finance leases	 16		  80,979		  100,193
Employee benefits	 17	 	 315,443	 	 315,219
Derivative financial instruments	 6.2.5	 	 69,637	 	 139,861
Long term provisions	 24		  74,874
Income taxes 			   1,236,928		  1,283,287
Deferred income taxes 	 22		  227,340
		  Total liabilities			   15,563,122		  9,304,504
Stockholders’ equity:
Capital stock	 18		  203,053		  203,028
	 Additional paid-in-capital 	 18		  139,386		  139,386
	 Retained earnings			   6,894,084		  6,373,332
	 Other comprehensive income items	 6.2.5,17		  (37,768)		  (244,684)
		  Total stockholders’ equity			   7,198,755		  6,471,062
Total			   $	 22,761,877	 $	 15,775,566

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements.

Grupo Lamosa, S.A.B. de C.V. and Subsidiaries
As of December 31, 2016 and 2015
(In thousands of Mexican pesos)

Ing. Federico Toussaint Elosúa	 Ing. Tomás Luis Garza de la Garza
Chief Executive Officer	 Chief Financial Officer

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
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	 NOTES 	 2016 	 2015

Continuing operations:
Net sales	 25	 $	 13,619,256	 $	 10,636,180
Cost and expenses:
	 Cost of sales			   8,013,126		  6,310,074
	 Operating expenses	 20		  3,196,361		  2,566,781
	 Other income, net			   (31,402)		  (28,967)
					     11,178,085		  8,847,888
Operating income			   2,441,171		  1,788,292

Interest expense 			   355,115		  256,328
Interest income 			   (11,745)		  (17,148)
Exchange loss, net			   771,973		  399,418
					     1,115,343		  638,598

Income before income taxes 			   1,325,828		  1,149,694
Income taxes	 22		  653,463		  383,993
Income from continuing operations			   672,365		  765,701

Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes	 19		  -		  64,376
Net income of the year		  $	 672,365    	 $	 701,325
	 Earnings per basic and diluted share  
		  from continuing operations	 4w		  1.77		  2.03
	 Earnings per basic and diluted share  
		  from discontinued operations	 4w		  -		  (0.17)
Earnings per basic and diluted share 	 4w	 $	 1.77	 $	 1.86

Consolidated Statements of Income

Grupo Lamosa, S.A.B. de C.V. and Subsidiaries
For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
(In thousands of Mexican pesos, except for the 
earning per share, which is in Mexican pesos)

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements
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	 NOTES 	 2016 	 2015

Net income of the year		  $	 672,365	 $	 701,325

Other comprehensive income items:

Item that can be potentially reclassified to net income  

	 of the year from continuing operations, net of taxes:

	 Valuation of derivative financial instruments	 6.2.5	 	 49,927	 	 (38,250)

	 Exchange differences on translation  

		  of foreign operations	 18 h)		  142,126		  (36,581)

					     192,053		  (74,831)

Item that cannot be potentially reclassified to net income  

	 of the year from continuing operations, net of taxes:

	 Actuarial remeasurements of defined benefits obligation	 17	 	 14,863	 	 (18,895)

					     14,863		  (18,895)

	 Total other comprehensive items			   206,916		  (93,726)

	 Total comprehensive income of the year		  $	 879,281	 $	 607,599

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements.

Grupo Lamosa, S.A.B. de C.V. and Subsidiaries
For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
(In thousands of Mexican pesos)

Consolidated Statements of Other 
Comprehensive Income
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				    Valuation of	 Remeasurement 
	 	 Additional	 	 Derivative	 of Defined	 Cumulative	 Total 
	 Capital	 Paid-In	 Retained	 Financial	 Benefits	 Translation	 Stockholders’ 
	 Stock	 Capital	 Earnings	 Instruments	 Obligation	 Adjustment	 Equity

Balances as of January 1, 2015	 $	203,003	 $	 139,386	 $	5,780,845	 $	 (115,371)	 $	 (35,587)			   $	5,972,276

	 Capital increase		  25												            25

	 Dividends declared						      (108,838)								        (108,838)

	 Comprehensive income						      701,325		  (38,250)		  (18,895)		  (36,581)		  607,599

Balances as of December 31, 2015		  203,028		  139,386		  6,373,332		  (153,621)		  (54,482)		  (36,581)		 6,471,062

	 Capital increase		  25												            25

	 Dividends declared						      (151,613)								        (151,613)

	 Comprehensive income						      672,365		  49,927		  14,863		  142,126		  879,281

Balances as of December 31, 2016	 $	 203,053	 $	 139,386	 $	6,894,084	 $	   (103,694) 	 $	 (39,619)	 $	 105,545	 $	7,198,755

Consolidated Statements  
of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity
Grupo Lamosa, S.A.B. de C.V. and Subsidiaries
For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
(In thousands of Mexican pesos)

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements.
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		  2016	 2015

Cash flows from operating activities
	 Income before taxes		  $	 1,325,828   	 $	 1,149,694
	 Adjustment for:
		  Depreciation and amortization			   454,812		  365,950
		  Other provisions			   191,811		  143,803
		  Interest income			   (11,745)		  (17,148)
		  Interest expense			   355,115		  247,203
		  Exchange loss, net			   771,973		  399,418
		  Disposal of property, plant and equipment			   36,000		  36,000
					     3,123,794		  2,324,920
	 Changes in working capital:
		  Increase in accounts receivable			   (169,024)		  (71,754)
		  Increase in inventories and real estate inventories			   (7,808)		  (87,271)
		  Increase in trade accounts payable			   243,335		  165,868
		  Other current liabilities			   (82,918)		  (106,829)
		  Income taxes paid			   (1,313,647)		  (225,518)
	 	      Net cash flows provided by operating activities	 	 	 1,793,732	 	 1,999,416
Cash flows from investing activities:
	 Acquisition of property, plant and equipment			   (1,620,714)		  (926,045)
	 Interest income			   11,745		  17,148
	 Acquisition of intangible assets			   (15,994)		  (48,882)
	 (Acquisitions) proceeds from sale of business  			   (4,625,595)		  544,735
	  	      Net cash flows used in investing activities	 	 	 (6,250,558)	 	 (413,044)
Cash flows from financing activities:
	 Bank loans 			   5,034,650		  -
	 Payments for bank liabilities and finance lease liability	 	 	 (836,570)	 	 (237,221)
	 Interest paid			   (312,396)		  (205,759)
	 Dividends paid			   (143,826)		  (102,791)
	 Payments for bank liabilities			   (135,044)		  -
	  	     Net cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities	 	 	 3,606,814	 	 (545,771)
	 Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents			   (850,012)		  1,040,601
	 Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year			   1,371,456		  290,270
	 Effects from changes in cash value	 	 	 17,422	 	 40,585
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year		  $	    538,866   	 $	 1,371,456

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Grupo Lamosa, S.A.B. de C.V. and Subsidiaries
For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
(In thousands of Mexican pesos)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
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1. Activities
Grupo Lamosa, S.A.B. de C.V. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) are engaged in the manufacture of ceramic products 
for floor and wall coverings, adhesive for ceramic tiles and real estate projects for sale. The Company’s address is Avenida 
Pedro Ramírez Vázquez No. 200-1 Col. Valle Oriente C.P. 66269 San Pedro Garza García, Nuevo León, Mexico.

2. Relevant events
Acquisition of subsidiaries– On September 30, 2016, the Company acquired 100% of the shares representing the capital 
stock of 6 entities that compose Cerámica San Lorenzo and Cordillera, which are primarily engaged in the manufacture 
and sale of ceramic tiles in Argentina, Chile, Peru and Colombia. The Company carried out this acquisition in order to 
expand its market, diversify risks, and strengthen its leadership in the industry.

This acquisition is classified as a business combination pursuant to the requirements of IFRS 3, “Business Combinations”; 
therefore, it will apply the purchase method to measure the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the transaction. The 
amount paid in the debt-free acquisition amounted to $241.6 million U.S. dollars net of the cash received, generating a 
preliminary goodwill of $1,634,526. The acquisition was financed by contracting long-term bank loans.

As of December 31, 2016, the Company is in the process of completing the price assignment to the net assets identified in 
the transactions, supported by independent appraisers to determine the fair value at the acquisition date; therefore, such 
line items and the goodwill can be amended. Accordingly, the value of the acquired assets reported in these consolidated 
financial statements must be deemed preliminary, pursuant to IFRS 3, which grants a twelve-month period to complete 
the assignment of purchase price from the acquisition date.

Below are the preliminary values of condensed net assets acquired as of September 30, 2016:

Consideration transferred, net of cash received:

Cash		  $	   4,625,595

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed:
	 Current assets	 $	   2,001,752
	 Long-term assets		  2,465,298
		  Total assets	 $	   4,467,050
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities 	 $	   1,197,711
Long-term liabilities		  278,270
		  Total liabilities		  1,475,981
Net identifiable assets and liabilities	 $	   2,991,069
Goodwill	 $	   1,634,526

The income and net loss for the 3-month period ended December 31, 2016 contributed by the acquired business amounts 
to $1,185,316 and $(27,054), respectively.

If the acquisition of Cerámica San Lorenzo and Cordillera had been realized on January 1, 2016, the income and net loss 
would have increased by $ 2,954,169 (unaudited) and $ (216,091) (unaudited), respectively.

The results of the acquired transactions have been included in the consolidated financial statements from the acquisition 
date; therefore, the 2016 consolidated statements of income and of financial position are not comparable to those of the 
prior year. The 2016 consolidated statement of cash flows incorporates the acquired transactions of the Company on a 
sole line item of the investing activity, net of the cash acquired.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Grupo Lamosa, S.A.B. de C.V. and Subsidiaries
For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
(In thousands of Mexican pesos)
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3. Basis of presentation and consolidation
a. Statement of compliance – The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and their amendments as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

b. Explanation for translation into English - The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been translated from 
Spanish into English for use outside of Mexico. Certain accounting practices applied by the Company that conform with IFRS 
may not conform with accounting principles generally accepted in the country of use.

c. New accounting pronouncements – As of January 1, 2016, the Company adopted the following IFRS:

Amendments to IAS 1, Disclosure initiative

The amendments include changes regarding materiality, clarifying that (1) information should not be obscured by aggregating or 
by providing immaterial information, (2) materiality considerations apply to the all parts of the financial statements, and (3) even 
when a standard requires a specific disclosure, materiality considerations do apply. Regarding the statement of financial position 
and statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income, the amendments (1) introduce a clarification that the list of 
line items to be presented in these statements can be disaggregated and aggregated as relevant and additional guidance on 
subtotals in these statements and (2) clarify that an entity’s share of OCI of equity-accounted associates and joint ventures should 
be presented in aggregate as single line items based on whether or not it will subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss. As 
well, regarding the notes to the financial statements, the amendments add additional examples of possible ways of ordering the 
notes to clarify that understandability and comparability should be considered when determining the order of the notes and to 
demonstrate that the notes need not be presented in the order so far listed in paragraph 114 of IAS 1.

The Company didn´t have any significant impacts on its consolidated financial statements in the adoption of this new 
amendment.

The Company has not adopted the following new and reviewed IFRS, which were issued but are not effective as of December 
31, 2016:

IFRS 9, Financial instruments

IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments”, issued in July 2014, is the replacement of IAS 39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement”. This standard includes requirements for recognition and measurement, impairment, derecognition and 
general hedge accounting. This version supersedes all previous versions and is mandatorily effective for periods beginning on 
or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption being permitted. IFRS 9 (2014) does not replace the requirements for portfolio fair 
value hedge accounting for interest rate risk since this face of the project was separated from the IFRS 9 project.

The Company is in the process of evaluating the potential impacts on its consolidated financial statements, derived from the 
adoption of this standard.

IFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers

IFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”, was issued in May 2014 and applies to annual reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2018, earlier application is permitted. Under this standard, revenue is recognized as control of the good 
or service is passed to the customer. The standard outlines a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for 
revenue arising from contracts with customers and supersedes most current revenue recognition guidance.

The Company is in the process of evaluating the potential impacts on its consolidated financial statements, derived from the 
adoption of this standard.
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 IFRS 16, Leases

IFRS 16 “Leases” was issued in January 2016 and supersedes IAS 17 Leases as well as the related interpretations. The new 
standard brings most leases on-balance sheet for lessees under a single model, eliminating the distinction between operating 
and finance leases. Lessor accounting, however, remains largely unchanged and the distinction between operating and finance 
leases is retained. IFRS 16 is effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with earlier adoption permitted if IFRS 
15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” has also been applied.

Under IFRS 16 a lessee recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. The right-of-use asset is treated similarly to other 
non-financial assets and depreciated accordingly and the liability accrues interest. This will typically produce a front-loaded 
expense profile (whereas operating leases under IAS 17 would typically have had straight-line expenses) as an assumed linear 
depreciation of the right-of-use asset and the decreasing interest on the liability will lead to an overall decrease of expense 
over time.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments payable over the lease term, discounted at 
the rate implicit in the lease if that can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the lessee shall use 
their incremental borrowing rate.

However, a lessee may elect to account for lease payments as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term for 
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less and containing no purchase options (this election is made by class of underlying 
asset); and leases where the underlying asset has a low value when new, such as personal computers or small items of office 
furniture (this election can be made on a lease-by-lease basis).

IFRS 16 establishes different transitional provisions, including retrospective application or the modified retrospective 
application where the comparative period is not restated. The Company is in the process of evaluating the potential impacts 
on its consolidated financial statements, derived from the adoption of this standard.

Amendments to IAS 12, Income taxes

Amendments to IAS 12, “Income Taxes”, clarify that unrealized losses on debt instruments measured at fair value and 
measured at cost for tax purposes give rise to a deductible temporary difference regardless of whether the debt instrument’s 
holder expects to recover the carrying amount of the debt instrument by sale or by use. Additionally, they specify that the 
carrying amount of an asset does not limit the estimation of probable future taxable profits and when comparing deductible 
temporary differences with future taxable profits, these exclude tax deductions resulting from the reversal of those deductible 
temporary differences. These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on January 1, 2017 with retrospective 
application, although earlier application is permitted. The Company is in the process of determining the potential impacts that 
will derive in its consolidated financial statements from the adoption of these amendments.

Amendments to IAS 7, Disclosure initiative

The amendments to IAS 7, “Statement of Cash Flows”, require that the following changes in liabilities arising from financing 
activities are disclosed separately from changes in other assets and liabilities:

a)	   Changes from financing cash flows
b)	   Changes arising from obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries or other businesses
c)	   The effect of changes in foreign exchange rates
d)	   Changes in fair values
e)	   Other changes

One way to fulfill the new disclosure requirement is to provide a reconciliation between the opening and closing balances in 
the statement of financial position for liabilities arising from financing activities.
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Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the 
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities. The new disclosure requirements also relate to changes in 
financial assets if they meet the same definition.

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 with earlier application permitted, 
and entities need not provide comparative information when they first apply them.

Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle
Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle makes amendments to IAS 28, “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (2011)”, 
which explains that the election to measure at fair value through profit or loss an investment in an associate or a joint venture 
that is held by an entity that is a venture capital organization, or other qualifying entity, is available for each investment in an 
associate or joint venture on an investment-by investment basis upon initial recognition. These amendments are effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.

IFRIC 22, Interpretation on Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration
This new Interpretation clarifies the accounting for transactions that include the receipt or payment of advance consideration 
in a foreign currency. The interpretation is being issued to reduce diversity in practice related to the exchange rate used when 
an entity reports transactions that are denominated in a foreign currency in accordance with IAS 21 in circumstances in which 
consideration is received or paid before the related asset, expense, or income is recognized. This interpretation is effective 
for annual reporting periods beginning after January 1, 2018 with earlier application permitted. The Company translates the 
foreign currency considerations at the exchange rate on the date the transaction is carried out, whether it is received or paid 
and gives them a non-monetary item treatment, and therefore does not visualize any significant impacts on the adoption of 
this interpretation in its consolidated financial statements.

d. Basis of preparation – The consolidated financial statements were prepared based on the historical cost, except for as 
mentioned in the accounting policies in Note 4. The historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration 
granted in exchange of the assets.

e. Local, functional and reporting currency – The individual financial statements of each subsidiary of the Company are 
prepared in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). For 
the purpose of these consolidated financial statements, the results and the financial position of each entity are converted 
into Mexican pesos, which is the functional currency of the operations of the Company, and the reporting currency of the 
consolidated financial statements.

The following table shows the functional currencies of the main foreign operations of the Company, which are the record 
currency:
	 Country	 Currency

	 Argentina	 Argentinian Peso
	 Chile	 Chilean Peso
	 Colombia	 Colombian Peso
	 United States	 American Dollar
	 Peru	 Peruvian Sol

f. Classification of costs and expenses – The costs and expenses presented in the consolidated statements of income were 
classified based on their function, as that is the common practice of the industry the Company participates in. Thus, cost of 
sales was separated from the remaining costs and expenses.

g. Basis of consolidation – The financial statements of Grupo Lamosa, S.A.B. de C.V. (“Glasa”) and those of the controlled 
companies were considered to prepare the consolidated financial statements.   Control is achieved when the Company has 
the power over the investee, when it is exposed or has the rights to obtain variable returns from its participation, and has the 
capacity to govern the financial and operating policies of the investee so as to obtain benefits from its activities. Glasa owns 
100% of the capital stock of its subsidiaries. For consolidation purposes, all the significant balances and transactions between 
affiliated companies have been eliminated.
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The subsidiaries and associates grouped by business segment, which form part of the continuing operations of Glasa, are as 
follows:
	 Ceramic Business	 Adhesives Business

Administradora Lamosa, S. A. de C. V. Sofom E. N. R. 	 Adhesivos de Jalisco, S.A. de C.V.
Cerámica Cordillera Comercial, S. A. (3)	 Adhesivos Perdura, S.A. de C.V.
Cerámica San Lorenzo Colombia, S. A. S. (3)	 Crest, S.A. de C.V.
Cerámica San Lorenzo, I. C. S. A. (3)	 Crest Norteamérica, S.A de C.V.
Cerámica San Lorenzo Industrial de Colombia, S. A. (3)	 Industrias Niasa, S.A. de C.V.
Cerámica San Lorenzo, S. A. C. (3)	 Ladrillera Monterrey, S.A. de C.V
Estudio Cerámico México, S.A. de C.V. (1)	 Niasa México, S.A. de C.V.
Gres, S.A. de C.V. 	 Soluciones Técnicas para la Construcción, S.A. de C.V.
Gresaise, S.A. de C.V.	 Soluciones Técnicas para la Construcción del Centro, S. A. de C. V.
Inmobiliaria Porcelanite, S. A. de C. V.	 Tecnocreto, S.A.
Inversiones San Lorenzo, S. A. (3)

Ital Gres, S.A. de C.V.
Italaise, S.A. de C.V.
Keramica Perú, S. A. C. (4)

Lamosa Revestimientos, S.A. de C.V.
Mercantil de Pisos y Baños, S.A. de C.V.
Pavillion, S.A. de C.V.
PLG Ceramics, Inc.
PL Ceramics Group, Inc. 
Porcel, S.A. de C.V.
Porcelanite Lamosa, S.A. de C.V.
Lamosa Energia de Monterrey, S. A. de C. V.  
	 (previously  Productos Cerámicos de Querétaro,  
	 S.A. de C.V.)
Revestimientos Keramica Colombia, S. A. S. (5)

Revestimientos Lamosa México, S.A. de C.V.
Revestimientos Porcelanite, S.A. de C.V.
Revestimientos y Servicios Comerciales, S.A. de C.V.
Servicios Comerciales Lamosa, S.A. de C.V.
Servigesa, S.A. de C.V.(1)

	 Real Estate Business	 Corporate and others

Fideicomiso de actividades empresariales para  
	 el desarrollo de inmuebles No. 851-00103 (2)	 Lamosa Servicios Administrativos, S.A. de C.V.
Grupo Inmobiliario Viber, S.A. de C.V.	 Servicios Administrativos Lamosa, S.A. de C.V.
Servicios de Administración el Diente, S.A. de C.V.	 Servicios Lamosa S.A. de C.V. Sofom E. N. R.
		  Servicios Industriales Lamosa, S.A. de C.V.
		  Inmobiliaria Revolución, S.A. de C.V.

(1)	 Associated companies where the Company has a 49% shared interest.
(2)	 On August 4, 2015, the Company liquidated the Trust.
(3)	 Foreign companies acquired on September 30, 2016.
(4)	 Company incorporated on July 22, 2016.
(5)	 Company incorporated on August 26, 2016.

Subsidiaries that form part of the discontinued operations of Glasa, are as follows:
	 Ceramic Business

Activos Inmobiliarios Sanitarios Lamosa, S.A. de C.V. 
North American Plumbing Products, Inc. 
Sanitarios Azteca, S. A. de C. V.
Sanitarios Lamosa, S.A. de C.V.
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4. Significant accounting policies
a. Cash and cash equivalents – Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, sight bank deposits, and short-term 
investments that are readily convertible to cash, not subject to significant risk of changes in their value. Cash and cash 
equivalents are measured at nominal value and yields are recognized in profit or loss as they are accrued.

b. Financial assets – Financial assets are recognized and derecognized on the trade date where there is a purchase or sale of 
a financial asset under a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset during a period which is generally regulated by the 
market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs except for those financial assets classified at 
fair value through profit or loss, which are initially measured at fair value.

Effective interest method

It is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest income over the relevant 
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payable (including all 
fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums 
or discounts) through the expected life of the debt instrument (or, where appropriate), a shorter period, to the net carrying 
amount on initial recognition.

Income is recognized on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial assets classified as financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. 
Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been 
affected.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

•	 Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

•	 Breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

•	 Probability that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation

Certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, are not assessed for impairment on an individual basis 
but on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Company’s past 
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit 
period between 70 and 130 days, that is in the legal process, as well as observable changes in national or local economic 
conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognized is the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original 
effective interest rate

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of 
trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is 
considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written 
off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognized in 
profit or loss.

When a financial asset is considered available for trade is impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other 
comprehensive income items is reclassified to the period’s profit or loss.

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ (FVTPL), 
‘held-to-maturity’ investments, ‘available-for-sale’ (AFS) financial assets and ‘loans and receivables’. The classification depends 
on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

•	It has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or

•	On initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Company manages together and has a 
recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

•	It is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

•	Such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise 
arise; or

•	The financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its performance 
is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Company’s documented risk management or investment strategy, 
and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

•	It forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement, permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognized 
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognized in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial 
asset and is included in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item in the consolidated statements of income.

Held to maturity investments
Financial instruments with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities for which the Company has both the positive 
intention and the ability to hold to maturity are classified as investments held to maturity. Held-to-maturity investments are 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method less any impairment, recognizing revenue on an effective 
yield basis.

Available-for-sale financial assets (AFS financial assets)
Are non-derivatives that are either designated as AFS or are not classified as (a) loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity 
investments or (c) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 
investment revaluation reserve, except for impairment losses, interest calculated using the effective interest method, and 
gains and losses on exchange, which are recognized in profit or loss. Where an investment is disposed or determined to 
impairment, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in the investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to income.

The fair value of AFS monetary financial assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency 
and translated at the spot rate prevailing at the end of the reporting period. The foreign exchange gains and losses that are 
recognized in profit or loss are determined based on the amortized cost of the monetary asset. Other foreign exchange gains 
and losses are recognized in other comprehensive income.

Accounts receivable and other receivables
Accounts receivable and other receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market are classified as “accounts receivable”. Accounts receivable and other receivables (including 
trade accounts receivable, other receivables, cash and bank account balances) are measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest income is recognized by applying the effective interest rate, except for 
short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be insignificant.

c. Inventories – Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value represents the 
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs of 
inventories are determined on a weighted average cost method basis and include the acquisition or production cost which is 
incurred when purchasing or producing a product and other costs incurred in bringing inventories to their current location 
ad condition. For inventories of finished goods and inventories in progress, cost includes an appropriate share of production 
overheads based on normal operating capacity.
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d. Real estate inventories – Real estate inventories mainly consist of land and materials incurred in the real estate business 
activity of the Company, and are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value.

Directly related borrowing costs, incurred from loans related to the construction process are capitalized. See more detail in 
note 4.f for policy of capitalization of borrowing costs.

e. Property, plant and equipment – Property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at their cost of acquisition and/or 
construction net of accumulated depreciation and/or accumulated impairment losses, if any. The borrowing costs related to 
the acquisition or construction of qualifying asset are capitalized as part of the cost of that asset, according to the Company´s 
policy. The improvements that have the effect of increasing the value of the asset, either because they increase the service 
capacity, improve efficiency or extend the useful life of the asset, are capitalized. Lower maintenance costs are recognized 
directly in costs in the period they are made. Depreciation of assets begins when the asset is ready for use.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with 
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Except for the depreciation of machinery and equipment which is depreciated based on units produced with the total 
estimated asset during its service life, the depreciation of other fixed assets is calculated under the straight-line method based 
on the estimated useful lives, as follows:
	 Years

Buildings and improvements	 35 to 40
Transportation equipment	 4 to 5
Computer equipment	 4
Furniture and equipment	 10

Gain or loss on the sale or retirement of property, plant and equipment is calculated as the difference between the net income 
from the sale and the carrying amount of the asset and is recorded in other income (expenses) of the operations, when all 
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are transferred to the buyer, which normally occurs when ownership 
of the property is transferred.

f. Borrowing costs – Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the 
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost 
of those assets during the construction phase and up to the beginning of operation and / or exploitation. Investment income 
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from 
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization. All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which 
they are incurred.

g. Investment in associates – An associate is an entity over which the Company has significant influence and that is neither 
a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture.  Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating 
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results, other comprehensive income items, assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these consolidated 
financial statements using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially 
recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognize the Company’s 
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate. When the Company’s share of losses of an 
associate exceeds the Company’s interest in that associate, the Company discontinues recognizing its share of further losses. 
Additional losses are recognized only to the extent that the Company has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made 
payments on behalf of the associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities of an associate recognized at the date of acquisition is recognized as goodwill, which is included within the 
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Company’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognized immediately in profit or loss.
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Requirements of IAS 39 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognize an impairment loss in respect of the 
Company’s investment in an associate. When necessary, the impairment test of the total carrying value of the investment 
(including goodwill) in accordance with IAS 36, “Impairment of Assets”, as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount 
(higher of value in use and fair value less cost of sales) against its carrying value. Any impairment loss recognized is part of the 
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognized in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent 
that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the associate are 
recognized in the Company’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate that are not 
related to the Company.

h. Business combinations – Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration 
transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair 
values of the assets transferred by the Company, liabilities assumed by the Company to the former owners of the acquiree 
and the equity interests issued by the Company in exchange for control of the acquiree. The costs related to the acquisition 
are generally recognized in the income statement as incurred. At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the 
liabilities assumed are recognized at their fair value,

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests 
in the acquiree, and the fair value of the Company previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the 
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the 
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration 
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the Company previously held 
interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognized immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

If the initial accounting treatment of a business combination is not complete at the end of the reporting period in which the 
combination occurs, the Company reports provisional amounts for items whose accounting is incomplete. Such provisional 
amounts are adjusted during the measurement period, no greater than twelve months, or additional assets or liabilities are 
recognized to reflect the new information obtained on the facts and circumstances existing at the acquisition date and, should 
have they been known, they would have affected the amounts recognized as of that date.

i. Leases – Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Company as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognized as assets of the Company at their fair value at the inception of the 
lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included 
in the consolidated statements of financial position as a financial lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between 
interest expenses and reduction of the lease obligations so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance 
of the liability. Interest expenses are recognized immediately in profit or loss under the effective interest rate, unless they are 
directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalized in accordance with the Company’s general policy 
on borrowing costs (see Note 4.f). Contingent rentals are recognized as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Contingent rentals 
arising under operating leases are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. In the event that lease 
incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognized as a liability. The aggregate benefit of 
incentives is recognized as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is 
more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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j. Intangible assets – Intangible assets represent payments whose benefits will be received in future years. The Company 
classifies its intangible assets into definite and indefinite-lived assets according to the period in which the Company expects 
to receive benefits.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives. Intangible assets with indefinite lives are not 
amortized and are subject to an annual evaluation to determine if there is impairment of assets.

The main intangible assets of the Company are trademarks, goodwill, and investments in software.

k. Goodwill – Goodwill arising from a business combination and recognized as an asset at the date that control is acquired 
(the acquisition date).

Goodwill is not amortized but assessed for impairment at least annually. For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill 
is allocated to each of the Company’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit 
from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment 
annually, or more frequently when there is indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of a cash-
generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any 
goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in 
the unit. An impairment loss recognized for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the 
profit or loss on disposal.

l. Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill – At the end of each reporting period, the Company 
reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those 
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in 
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of 
an individual asset, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and 
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized 
immediately in profit or loss. When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the 
asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

m. Financial liabilities – Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at FVTPL’ or ‘debt or other financial 
liabilities measured at amortized cost’.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is either held for trading or it is designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognized in profit or 
loss. The net gain or loss recognized in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability and is included in 
the ‘other gains and losses’ line item in the consolidated statements of income.
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Debt and other financial liabilities measured at amortized cost

Include loans from financial institutions and other financial liabilities, which are initially measured at fair value, net of 
transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, and the interest expense 
is recognized on an effective yield basis.

Financial liabilities are classified as short- term and long-term according to their maturity.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest 
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on 
initial recognition.

Derecognition

The Company derecognizes financial liabilities only when the Company’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.

n. Derivative financial instruments – The Company values and records all operations with derivative financial instruments 
in the consolidated statements of financial position as either an asset or liability at fair value, regardless of the purpose of 
holding them.

The fair value of these instruments is determined based on the present value of cash flows. This method involves estimating 
future cash flows of derivatives according to the fixed rate of the derivative and the forward curve at that date to determine 
the variable cash flows, using the appropriate discount rate to estimate the present value. All derivatives of the Company are 
classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. Fair value measurements in Level 2 are those derived from different information 
than quoted prices included within Level 1 (fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities) that can be seen for the asset or liability, either directly (eg., as prices) or 
indirectly (eg., derived from prices).

At the inception of the hedge relationship of a derivate financial instrument, the Company ensures that all hedge accounting 
requirements are complied with and documents its designation at the inception of the hedge, describing the objective, characteristics, 
accounting treatment and the way the measurement of effectiveness will be performed, applicable to that operation.

Derivatives designated as hedges for accounting purposes are accounted for based on the type of hedge: (1) for fair value 
hedges, changes in both the derivative and the hedged item are recognized at fair value and are recognized in profit or loss, 
(2) when cash flows hedges, the effective portion is temporarily recognized in other comprehensive income and in profit or 
loss when the hedged item affects it; the ineffective portion is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Company revokes the hedging relationship, when the hedging instrument expires 
or is sold, terminated, or exercised, when it no longer qualifies for hedge accounting or effectiveness is not sufficient to 
compensate changes in fair value or cash flows of the hedged item.

When discontinuing cash flow hedge accounting, any gain or loss recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognized when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognized in profit or 
loss. When it is no longer expected to occur, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 
Where a hedge for a forecasted transaction is proved satisfactory and subsequently does not meet the effectiveness test, the 
cumulative effects in other comprehensive income in equity are recognized in proportion to profit or loss, to the extent that 
the forecasted asset or liability affects it.

Certain derivative financial instruments contracted for hedging from an economic perspective that do not meet all the 
requirements under the standard, are designated for accounting purposes as FVTPL. The fluctuation in the fair value of these 
derivative instruments are recognized in the consolidated statements of income.

The Company uses interest rate swaps, foreign exchange and natural gas hedges, to manage its exposure to fluctuations in 
interest rates, foreign exchange, and market prices of natural gas, respectively (see Note 6.2).

o. Short-term employee benefits – Short-term employee benefits are calculated based on the services provided, considering 
their current salaries and the liability is recognized as it accrues. It mainly includes workers’ profit sharing (PTU) payable, 
vacations and vacation premiums, and incentives.
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p. Statutory employee profit sharing (PTU) – PTU is recorded in the period’s profit or loss in which it is incurred and 
presented in cost of goods sold and operating expenses.

q. Termination benefits – The Company provides benefits upon termination of employment under certain circumstances 
required. These benefits consist of a lump sum payment of three months’ salary plus 20 days per year worked in the event of 
unjustified dismissal.

Termination benefits are recognized when the Company decides to terminate the employment relationship with an employee 
or when the employee accepts an offer of termination.

r. Long-term employee benefits – The Company provides its employees long-term benefits that consist of defined 
contribution plans and defined benefit plans.

Legal defined contribution plan – The Company makes contributions equivalent to 2% of the salary of their workers to their 
plan defined contribution plan based on the retirement savings requirements established by law. The expense recognized for 
this item was $18,666 in 2016 and $20,125 in 2015.

Defined contribution plan – The Company has a pension plan with defined contribution benefits for certain employees, 
equivalent to a maximum of 6.25% of their annual taxed wage.

The Company has two types of retirement: normal retirement, which applies when turning 65 years of age, and early retirement, 
which applies when turning 55 years of age with at least 5 years of service.

In the case of leaving prior to retirement, the employee’s entitlements on contributions will be adjusted to the years of service 
with the Company.

Defined benefit plans – For defined benefit plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit 
method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at the end of each reporting period.  All remeasurements of the Company’s 
defined benefit obligations such as actuarial gains and losses are recognized directly in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) 
and shall not be recycled to profit or loss at any time. The Company presents service costs within cost of sales and operating 
expenses, and presents net interest cost within interest expense in the consolidated statements of income. The projected 
benefit obligation recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position represents the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation as of the end of each reporting period.

The defined benefit plans that the Company provides to its employees are:

Seniority premium – In accordance with Mexican Labor Law, the Company provides seniority premium benefits to its 
employees under certain circumstances. These benefits consist of a one-time payment equivalent to 12 days wages for 
each year of service (at the employee’s most recent salary, but not to exceed twice the legal minimum wage), payable to all 
employees with 15 or more years of service, as well as to certain employees terminated involuntarily prior to the vesting of 
their seniority premium benefit.

Pension plan – The Company maintains for certain employees a pension plan with defined benefits that consists of a one-time 
payment or a monthly payment determined based on their base pay according to age and years of service. The retirement 
ages are: normal. - Staff with 50 years of age and at least 5 years of service; advanced. - Staff with 45 years of age and at least 
15 years of service, and early. – Staff with 40 years of age and a minimum of 10 years of service.

s. Provisions – Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that the Company will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at 
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision 
is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those 
cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, 
a receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the 
receivable can be measured reliably.
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t. Revenue recognition – Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, reduced for 
estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances granted by the Company.

Revenue from the sale of goods and real estate is recognized when all of the following conditions are satisfied:

−	 The Company has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods

−	 The Company retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor 
effective control over the goods sold

−	 The amount of revenue can be measured reliably

−	 It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Company

−	 The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

u. Income taxes – Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

Current tax corresponds to income tax (“ISR”) and is recorded in the income of the year when incurred. Taxable profit differs 
from profit as reported in the consolidated statements of income because of items of income or expense that are taxable or 
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Company’s liability for current tax is calculated 
using the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognized on the temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, including tax 
loss benefit. Deferred income tax asset is presented net of the reserve arising from the uncertainty of the realization of certain 
benefits.

On initial recognition, such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized if the temporary difference arises from 
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction 
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary 
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the 
Company is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such 
investments and interests are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits 
against which to utilize the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is 
settled or the asset realized, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 
the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow 
from the manner in which the Company expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount 
of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset when there is a legal right to offset short-term assets with short-term 
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes relating to the same taxation authority and the Company intends to liquidate 
its assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognized in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognized in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting 
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.
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The business assets tax (“IMPAC”), expected to be recoverable is recorded as a tax credit and is presented in the consolidated 
statements of financial position increasing income tax deferred asset.

v. Foreign currency transactions – Foreign currency transactions are recognized at the rates of exchange prevailing at 
the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Exchange differences on monetary items are recognized in profit or loss in 
the period in which they arise except for capitalization of borrowing costs during the construction of assets on construction 
financing. Management has determined that the functional currency of its main foreign operations is the U.S. dollar, Argentine 
peso, Chilean peso, Colombian peso and Peruvian sol while for the operations in Mexico, is the Mexican peso.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s assets and liabilities in foreign currency 
and its foreign currency transactions are expressed in Mexican pesos, using the foreign exchange rates in effect at the end 
of the period. Income and expense items are translated into the average exchange rates in effect of the period, unless they 
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case the exchange rates at the transaction date are used. Differences arising 
in foreign exchange rates, if any, are recognized in other comprehensive income, and are accumulated in stockholders’ equity.

The main closing exchange rates as of December 31, 2016 for the accounts of the statement of financial position and 
approximate average of the last quarter of 2016 of the accounts of the statement of income, are as follows:
	 As of December 31, 2016

Currency	 Closing	 Average

American Dollars	 20.66400	 19.813200
Colombian Peso	 0.00684	 0.006545
Peruvian Sol	 6.14817	 5.835020
Argentinian Peso	 1.31339	 1.279500
Chilean Peso	 0.03070	 0.029900

w. Earnings per share (“EPS”) – EPS is calculated by dividing the consolidated net income by the weighted average number 
of shares outstanding during the period. Earnings per share are based on 380,558,232 and 376,800,627 weighted average 
shares outstanding during 2016 and 2015, respectively. The Company does not have potentially dilutive instruments.

5. Critical accounting judgments and key uncertainty sources in estimates
In the application of the accounting policies mentioned in Note 4, the Company’s management made judgments, 
estimates and assumptions about certain amounts of assets and liabilities of the financial statements. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on experience and other factors that are considered relevant. Actual results could 
differ from such estimates.

The estimates and associated assumptions are continuously reviewed. Amendments to accounting estimates are recognized 
in the period in which the estimate is modified, future periods if the change affects both current and future periods.

Useful lives of fixed and intangible assets

Useful lives and residual values of fixed and intangible assets are used to determine depreciation expense and amortization 
of such assets, except for machinery and equipment which are depreciated on the basis of units produced estimating a total 
production, and are defined in accordance with internal specialists. Useful lives and residual values are reviewed periodically 
at least once a year, based on the current conditions of the assets and the estimate of the period during which they will 
continue to generate economic benefits to the Company. If there are changes in the related estimate, measurement of the 
net carrying amount of assets and the corresponding depreciation or amortization expense are affected prospectively. See 
Note 4.e.

Valuations to determine the recoverability of deferred tax assets
As part of the tax analysis that the Company makes, on an annual basis it determines the projected taxable income based on 
the judgements and estimates of future operations, to conclude on the probability of recoverability of deferred tax assets, 
such as including tax losses and other tax credits. See Note 22.
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Impairment of long lived assets

The carrying amount of long-lived assets is reviewed for impairment when situations or changes in circumstances indicate that 
it is not recoverable. If there are indicators of impairment, a review is carried out to determine whether the carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount and whether it is impaired. The evaluation of impairment is estimated in accordance to what 
is mentioned in Note 4.

The Company reviews on an annual basis the circumstances that provoked an impairment loss derived from the cash 
generating units to determine if such circumstances have been modified and if they have generated reversal conditions. 
In case of a positive conclusion, the next step is to calculate the recoverable amount and, if it is appropriate the reversal of 
impairment previously recognized. In case of having recognized an impairment loss of goodwill, no reversal procedure is 
applied. See Notes 12 and 13.

Assumptions made in defined benefit plan obligations

The Company uses assumptions to determine the best estimate for its employee retirement benefits. Assumptions and 
estimates are established in conjunction with independent actuaries. These assumptions include demographic hypothesis, 
discount rates and expected increases in remunerations and future permanence, among others.  Although the assumptions 
are deemed appropriate, a change in such assumptions could affect the value of the employee benefit liability and the results 
of the period in which it occurs. See Note 17.

Assignment of purchase price – fair value of net assets acquired

For the purposes of the consolidated financial statements, the excess of the consideration paid for the acquisition described 
in Note 2 on the carrying amount of the net assets acquired was allocated to goodwill. However, the Company is in the process 
of accounting for the transaction in a period no longer than 12 months, using the purchase method as set forth in IFRS 3, 
identifying the assets acquired and liabilities assumed measuring them at fair value; therefore, the goodwill shown in these 
consolidated financial statements may be changed. To determine the fair value of the tangible and intangible assets identified 
in the transaction, the Company uses certain key assumptions considering the valuation technique reflecting the greater and 
better use thereof, according to the definitions of fair value set forth in the IFRS.

Once the valuation is concluded, the Company’s management restructures the financial information presented for the year 
ended December 31, 2016.

Additionally, the Company’s management makes certain critical judgements, which are explained below:

Significant influence

The Company holds a 49% interest in both Estudio Cerámico México, S.A. de C.V. and Servigesa, S.A. de C.V., but since it does 
not hold the majority of the substantive rights in these entities and does not have the power and the ability to affect variable 
returns, it has concluded that it does not exercise control over them. See Note 3.f.

Classification of an operation to be disposed as held for sale

The Company’s management assesses whether a group of assets and liabilities can be classified as held for sale, considering 
if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than its continued use. For this to be the case, the 
disposal group must be available for immediate sale in its present conditions, subject only to usual transaction terms and the 
sale must be considered by management as highly probable to occur. See Note 19.

Contingencies

The Company is subject to transactions or contingent events on which it uses professional judgment in the development of 
estimates of probability of occurrence. The factors considered in these estimates are the legal situation at the date of the 
estimate, and the opinion of legal advisors. See Note 21.
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6. Objectives of risk management in financial instruments
The Company is exposed to different financial risks inherent in its operation, which are evaluated through a risk management 
program and are listed below: a) market risk which included foreign exchange risk, interest and price rates mainly natural gas, 
b) liquidity risk and c) credit risk, for which it seeks to manage the potential negative effects thereof in its financial performance. 
According to the valuation of these risks and internal guidelines, the Company carries out operations with derivative financial 
instruments, which are only for purposes of hedging and must be previously approved by the Finance Committee, comprised 
of independent and related party members of the Company’s Board of Directors.

6.1 Categories and fair value of financial instruments

Below are the financial instruments and their fair value based on their category:
	 December 31,
	 2016	 2015

Financial Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents (1)	 $	    538,866  	 $	 1,371,456
Accounts receivable (1)		  3,128,598		  2,313,318
Financial liabilities:
Derivative financial instruments (2)	 $	    119,047	 $	 219,459
Amortized cost liabilities (1) (3)		  11,722,191		  6,043,577

(1)	 Measured at amortized cost. The book value of cash and equivalents, accounts receivable and short-term financial liabilities, approximates 
their fair value because they are shot-maturity instruments.

(2)	 Instruments measured at fair value
(3)	 The fair value of long-term debt and finance leases is similar to their book value as they reflect the amounts at which they might be 

exchanged and/or settled.  Additionally, the contractual terms and conditions are similar to market conditions at the reporting date.

6.2 Market risk

6.2.1 Foreign Exchange risk

The Company’s exposure to the volatility of the exchange rate of the Mexican peso against the U.S. dollar for the financial 
instruments is shown as follows (figures in this Note are expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars – US$):

	   2016	   2015

Financial assets	 US$	 52,243        US$	 30,957
Financial liabilities		  (446,168)		  (222,621)
Liability position	 US$	 (393,925)	 US$	 (191,664)
Equivalent in Mexican pesos	 $	   (8,140,066)	 $	 (3,297,867)

The exchange rates in effect at the date of consolidated financial statements per U.S. dollar were as follows:
	 As of December 31, 	 As of December 31, 
	 2016	 2015

				    $	 20.66	 $	 17.21
At February 3, 2017, the interbank exchange rate established by Banco de Mexico was $20.78 Mexican pesos per U.S. dollar.
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As of December 31, 2016, the Company has conducted hedging transactions through call options, solely in order to reduce 
the exposure to the devaluation of the Mexican peso against the U.S. dollar, which increased in the last quarter of 2016. In 
addition, the Company also has conducted exchange rate hedging transactions through forwards to ensure the exchange rate 
of the transactions with suppliers in its subsidiary in Chile.

The following table shows the exchange rate derivative financial instruments as of December 31 2016:
		  Beginning	 Termination	 Actual notional	 Contract	 Exchange	 Fair 
Type of transaction 	 date	 date	 (thousands)	 currency	 rate	 value

American call options	 Nov-01-16	 Jan-01-17	 USD$80,000	 U.S. dollars	 23.00	 0
American call options	 Oct-31-16	 Feb-01-17	 USD$120,000	 U.S. dollars	 23.00	 617
American call options	 Nov-01-16	 Jan-06-17	 USD$120,000	 U.S dollars	 23.00	 0
American call options	 Nov-01-16	 Jan-06-17	 USD$35,761	 U.S dollars	 23.00	 0
Forward	 Jan-01-16	 Various dates, 	 CLP$8,002,038	 Chilean peso	 675.41	 $(1,465) 
			   between  
			   January 3 and  
			   June 27, 2017

6.2.2. Sensitivity analysis of exchange risk

Because the Company has a borrowing position in foreign currency, mainly due to debt and finance leases in US dollars it is 
exposed to variations in exchange rates.  Therefore, if as of December 31, 2016, the Mexican peso/U.S. dollar ratio increased 
by $3.00 Mexican pesos, then the amount of net monetary position in foreign currency would have increased by $1,181,776 
impacting income before taxes and the Company’s stockholders’ equity would have resulted in an exchange loss. If on the 
other hand, such ratio had decreased by $3.00 Mexican pesos, the effect would have been the opposite. Both scenarios 
represent the amount that management considers reasonably possible to occur in a year given current market volatility.

6.2.3. Interest rate risk

All of the bank debt is contracted at a variable rates, which exposes the Company to interest rate risk. The risk exposure mainly 
lies in variations that could occur in the reference interest rates used in Mexico and in the United States, (28-day Interbank 
Equilibrium Interest Rate or “TIIE” and the 3-month London Interbank Offered Rate or “LIBOR”).

The Company monitors the trends of such interest rates, through the third quarter of 2016, the trend of the 28-day TIIE and 
the 3M LIBOR increased and continued like this during the fourth quarter of 2016. As of December 31, 2016, the Company has 
a debt balance in local currency of $1,960,528 with a 28-day TIIE plus 2.75%, and $31,395 with a 28-day TIIE plus a surcharge 
between 5% and 2%. In addition, it maintains a debt in US dollars of US$353,537 with a 3M LIBOR plus a surcharge of 2.90%; 
US$25,000 with a 1M LIBOR plus a surcharge of 2.4%; and US$4,487 with a LIBOR plus 2.24%. The interest expense recorded 
during 2016 and 2015 was $224,331 and $198,619, respectively.

6.2.4. Sensitivity analysis of interest risk

If as of December 31, 2016, the interest rates on the Company’s debt instruments had increased one percentage point, which 
represents the percentage that management considers reasonably possible to occur in the coming year, the impact in income 
before income taxes and the Company’s stockholders’ equity would be an expense of $67,898. The increase of interest rates 
would generate a decrease of the income while a decrease in such rates would generate a benefit to the income.

6.2.5. Natural gas price risk

The Company is exposed to fluctuations in the price of natural gas. During the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, 
the Company consumed natural gas of approximately 10,815,815 and 9,542,653 million British Thermal Units (“MMBTUS”), 
respectively. Based on the guidelines established by the Finance Committee to hedge the risk of the rise in the price of gas, a 
strategy to hedge this input has been implemented by contracting derivative financial instruments that have been classified 
as cash flow hedges.
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During the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, a total of 2,580,000 and 5,385,000 MMBTUS were hedged, respectively. 
The effect for the aforementioned hedging transaction represented expenses of $87,333 and $140,867 in the 2016 and 2015 
consolidated statements of income, respectively, which was presented within cost of sales.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company has derivatives that hedge the natural gas price of approximately 5,160,000 
and 7,740,000 MMBTUS, respectively. At the same date, the fair value of such hedges was as follows:
Type of Transaction	 Notional 
MMBTU in Effect	 Maturity	 Average Price US$ (1) 	 Fair Value Liability

In 2016:
	 Swaps	 2,580,000	 2017	 4.50	 $	   (47,945)
	 Swaps	 2,580,000	 2018	 4.50		  (69,637)
		  5,160,000			   $	 (117,582)

In 2015:
	 Swaps	 2,580,000	 2016	 4.23	 $	   (79,598)
	 Swaps	 2,580,000	 2017	 4.50		  (74,921)
	 Swaps	 2,580,000	 2018	 4.23		  (64,940)
		  7,740,000			   $	 (219,459)

(1)	 The Company has the right and the obligation, to buy at the established price.  There was no premium paid for entering into these 
transactions.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015 and February 3, 2016, the issuance date of the consolidated financial statements, the 
market price of natural gas was US$2.9199, US$2.1575 and US$3.8238, U.S. dollars of MMBTUS, respectively.

The valuation of the effective portion of derivative financial instruments recognized in other comprehensive income for the 
years ended December 31, is as follows:

Activity of the year:	 2016	 2015

Opening balance	 $	 (153,621)    	 $	 (115,371)
	 Changes during the year		  71,324		  (54,643)
	 Tax effect	 	 (21,397)	 	 16,393
Ending balance	 $	 (103,694)	 $	 (153,621)

6.2.6 Sensitivity analysis of natural gas price risk
If as of the December 31, 2016, the gas price had increased by 10%, which represents the percentage that management 
considers reasonably possible to occur in the coming year, the Company’s income before taxes would have decreased by 
$79,954, having an effect in stockholders’ equity of $55,968. If on the other hand, such ratio had decreased by 10%, then the 
effect would be the opposite. Such effects consider the aforementioned hedging strategy and the effect of the corresponding 
derivative financial instruments.

6.3 Liquidity risk
The Company is exposed to different industry factors, as well as to economic factors, which could affect the cash flow of its 
operations. Some of these factors are not controllable by the Company; however, the Company manages the liquidity risk 
through the monthly review of actual and projected cash flows to anticipate and react to potential future events.

A contractual payments’ analysis of non-derivative financial liabilities is disclosed in Note 15 and 16 and the maturity analysis 
for derivative financial liabilities is disclosed in Note 6.2.5, which will be settled in the short-term. This risk is managed by 
maintaining a proper cash balance for its operation and debt service, complemented by available lines of credit with various 
banks which to date, have not been needed to use.
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6.4 Credit risk
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by accounts receivable as shown in the consolidated statements of 
financial position. The customer portfolio is composed predominantly by entities in the construction industry who have a 
long history with the Company. For its credit risk management, the Company carries out a thorough review of customers 
interested in purchasing its products, as well as the annual evaluation of existing customers, considering both qualitative 
and quantitative variables and by establishing credit limits. The portfolio is based on the characteristics and conditions of 
customers, supported with promissory notes when necessary. In addition, no customer individual or with affiliated companies 
represent more than 10% of sales or account receivables for the reported years in these consolidated financial statements.

7. Cash and cash equivalents
	 2016	 2015

Cash and bank deposits	 $	 389,502   	 $	    151,515
Cash equivalents– investments in money market fund		  149,364		  1,219,941
				    $	 538,866	 $	 1,371,456

8. Accounts receivable, net
	 2016	 2015

Accounts receivable	 $	 3,251,790	 $	 2,385,566
Allowance for doubtful accounts		  (123,192)		  (72,248)
				    $	 3,128,598	 $	 2,313,318

Age of due portfolio, uncollectible:	 2016	 2015

60 to 90 days	 $	   44,369  	 $	   44,189
90 to 120 days		  41,306		  36,099
Over 120 days		  80,109		  149,238
				    $	 165,784 	 $	 229,526

Movements in the doubtful account estimate:	 2016	 2015

Opening balance	 $	 (72,248)	 $	 (33,113)
Charges			   (23,734)		  -
Allowance for doubtful accounts of the year		  (64,441)		  (69,851)
Write-offs	 	 37,231	 	 30,716
Ending balance	 $	 (123,192) 	 $	 (72,248)



67

9. Inventories
	 2016	 2015

Finished goods	 $	 1,616,903        $	    948,066
Work in process		  105,662		  85,953
Raw materials		  587,663		  285,507
Accessories and spare parts		  369,189		  156,970
				    $	 2,679,417	 $	 1,476,496

The amount of the inventories consumed and recognized as part of cost of sales for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 
2015, amounted to $4,585,237 and $3,661,266, respectively.

Inventories recognized as an expense for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 include $22,645 and $6,555, 
respectively, for write-downs of inventory to their net realizable value.

10. Other current assets
	 2016	 2015

Recoverable taxes	 $	 256,111	 $	 287,351
Advance to suppliers		  152,508		  304,044
Other				   58,972		  72,685
				    $	 467,591	 $	 664,080

11. Real estate inventories
	 2016	 2015

Real estate for sale	 $	   32,483  	 $	   32,483
Undeveloped land		  93,689		  93,831
				    $	 126,172 	 $	 126,314

12. Property, plant and equipment, net
	 2016	 2015

Land			   $	 1,016,876    	 $	    595,421
Buildings and constructions		  4,375,572		  3,168,124
Machinery and equipment 		  10,452,815		  7,950,608
Furniture and equipment		  68,281		  58,704
Vehicles			   98,723		  94,903
Computers		  103,334		  93,154
Investment in process		  418,024		  456,318
					     16,533,625		  12,417,232
Accumulated depreciation		  7,869,810		  7,657,813
				    $	 8,663,815 	 $	 4,759,419
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	 Balances as 						      Balances as of 
	 of December 31, 	 Business					     December 31, 
	 2015	 acquisition	 Additions	 Depreciation	 Divestitures	 Capitalization 	 2016

Investments:	
	 Land		  $	   595,421    	 $	    413,596	 $	       7,859							       $	1,016,876
	 Buildings and constructions		  3,168,124		  744,059		  13,347 			   $	  1,008	 $	    451,050  		  4,375,571
	 Machinery and equipment 		  7,950,608		  1,389,229		  132,551				    294,860		  1,275,287		 10,452,815
	 Furniture and equipment		  58,704		  6,192		  7,813				    4,523		  95		  68,281
	 Transport equipment		  94,903		  6,264		  14,925				    24,915		  7,546		  98,723
	 Computer equipment		  93,154		  1,922		  6,056				    7,640		  9,843		  103,334
	 Investments in process		  456,318		  14,978		  1,694,845				    4,296		  (1,743,821)		  418,025
	 Total investments		 12,417,232		  2,576,240		  1,877,396	           	    -		  337,242		  -	 16,533,625

Depreciation:
	 Buildings and constructions		  1,432,053							       $	     82,708  		  1,372		  1,513,389
	 Machinery and equipment 		  6,005,110								        298,404		  171,453		  6,132,061
	 Furniture and equipment		  55,165								        5,246		  2,735		  57,676
	 Transport equipment		  73,821								        14,207		  24,625		  63,403
	 Computer equipment		  91,664								        18,731		  7,114		  103,281
	 Total accumulated depreciation		  7,657,813								        419,296		  207,299		  7,869,815
	 Investments, net	 $	4,759,419	 $	2,576,240	 $	1,877,396	 $	   419,296	 $	   129,944	 $	 -	 $	8,663,815

	 Balances as 						      Balances as of 
	 of December 31, 	 Business					     December 31, 
	 2015	 acquisition	 Additions	 Depreciation	 Divestitures	 Capitalization 	 2015

Investments:
	 Land		  $	   583,392 	 $	 -	 $	 12,029							       $	 595,421
	 Buildings and constructions		  3,150,689				    127 					     $	 17,308	   	3,168,124
	 Machinery and equipment		  7,799,995				    7,383			   $	 71,828		  215,058		  7,950,608
	 Furniture and equipment		  66,805				    350				    12,524		  4,073		  58,704
	 Transport equipment		  99,691				    22,306				    27,094		  94,903
	 Computer equipment		  111,949				    1,494				    32,401		  12,112		  93,154
	 Investments in process		  84,895				    637,547				    17,573		  (248,551)		  456,318
Total investments		 11,897,416				    681,236				    161,420	  		   	12,417,232
Depreciation:	
	 Buildings and constructions		  1,368,650					     $	     65,463  		  2,060				    1,432,053
	 Machinery and equipment		  5,852,740						      239,386		  87,016				    6,005,110
	 Furniture and equipment		  52,842						      3,142		  819				    55,165
	 Transport equipment		  76,242						      16,960		  19,381				    73,821
	 Computer equipment		  79,463						      15,402		  3,201				    91,664
Total accumulated  
	 depreciation		  7,429,937						      340,353		  112,477				    7,657,813
Investments, net 	 $	4,467,479	 $	 -	 $	   681,236	 $	   340,353	 $	     48,943	 $	 -	 $	4,759,419
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During the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company had idle capacity of 8.14% and 5.87%, respectively. 
Interest expense related to qualifying assets as of December 31, 2016 were $61,837, as of December 31, 2015 the costs 
related to fixed assets were not significant.

During the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company wrote-off property, plant and equipment amounting to 
$36,000 and $36,000, respectively, of assets that were removed from use.

13. Intangible assets
	 2016	 2015

Unamortized intangible assets:
	 Brands	 $	 3,791,459	 $	 3,791,459
	 Goodwill		  2,017,162		  382,636
					     5,808,621		  4,174,095
Amortized intangible assets		  230,936		  245,158
				    $	 6,039,557	 $	 4,419,253

			   Total	  
			   Unamortized	 Amortized	  
Cost  	 Brands	 Goodwill  	 Intangibles	 Intangibles	 Total

Balances as of January 1, 2015	 $	 3,791,459	 $	 382,636	 $	 4,174,095	 $	 221,944	 $	 4,396,039
	 Acquisitions								        48,882		  48,882
	 Amortization 								        (25,668)		  (25,668)
Balances as of December 31, 2015		  3,791,459		  382,636		  4,174,095		  245,158		  4,419,253
	 Acquisitions				    1,634,526		  1,634,526		  15,694		  1,650,220
	 Amortization 								        (29,916)		  (29,916)
Balances as of December 31, 2016	 $	 3,791,459	 $	 2,017,162	 $	 5,808,621	 $	 230,936	 $	 6,039,557

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, intangible assets with finite useful lives mainly refer to expenses of the Company related to 
the implementation of an enterprise resource planning (ERP) system which began amortization in 2014, when it was deemed 
to be ready for its intended use.

For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, borrowing costs related to intangible assets were not significant.

For purposes of impairment tests, goodwill was assigned to the Company’s following cash generating units (CGU):

	 2016	 2015

North America ceramic tiles  	 $	 3,946,296	 $	 3,946,296
South America ceramic tiles 		  1,634,526
Adhesives		  227,799		  227,799
				    $	 5,808,621	 $	 4,174,095
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The following factors are considered to assess the recoverable value of the CGU for impairment test purposes:

•	 Market share and expected price levels.

•	 Size of the market where the CGU operates for estimation of recoverable value purposes.

•	 Behavior of primary costs of raw materials and input, and the necessary expenses to maintain fixed assets in conditions to 
be used.

•	 Cash flows projections, discounted to present value based on financial projections, based on the estimates at the date of 
the valuation using the budget approved by management, which includes the latest trends.

•	 The discount rate based on the weighted capital cost and the market participants’ variables to be considered.

•	 Perpetuity growth rate estimated based on the inflation of the economy where the Company operates.

The discount and perpetuity growth rates used for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, are as follows:

	 2016	 2015

Discount rate
Ceramic tiles		  11.50%		  10.91%
Adhesives		  11.10%		  10.60%
Perpetuity growth rate
Ceramic tiles and Adhesives		  3.00%		  3.00%

For the purposes of the calculation of the recoverable value of cash generating units, discount rates before tax are used, which 
are applied to cash flows before tax. Additionally, the perpetuity growth rate reflects a growth approximately equal to annual 
estimated inflation starting from the sixth year of cash flows.

Management concluded that there have been no impairment losses during the reporting periods as a result of the test 
performed on intangibles with indefinite useful lives.

The Company’s management believes that any possible reasonable change in the factors to assess the recoverable value will 
not cause the CGU value to exceed their recoverable value.

14. Other current liabilities
	 2016	 2015

Contributions and taxes payable	 $	  83,747	 $	 118,515
Freights payable		  261,526		  189,056
Energy payable		  188,775		  63,035
Statutory employee profit sharing (PTU)	 	 67,677	 	 48,480
Provisions		  241,732		  37,608
Dividends payable		  45,772		  22,569
Sundry creditors		  339,349		  100,058
Other accounts payable		  168,338		  26,394
				    $	 1,396,916	 $	 605,715
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15. Long-term debt
a. According to the long-term loan agreements, the bank debt as of December 31, is as follows:

	 2016	 2015

(1)	 Bank loans denominated in U.S. dollars, bearing variable interest based  
on LIBOR plus a maximum rate of 3.15% in 2016, and 2.50% in 2015;  
principal matures in different dates through 2021.	 $	 7,305,504	 $	 2,821,414

	 Bank loans denominated in U.S. dollars, bearing variable interest based on  
LIBOR plus a maximum rate of 2.65% in 2016; with maturities of principal  
through 2019, with prepayment options.		  516,600		  -

	 Overdraft-type bank loans denominated in Argentinian pesos, with a variable  
interest rate at the closing of December 2016 of 27.6%; principal does  
not mature until 1 year.		  179,262		  -

(1)	 Bank loan denominated in Mexican pesos, and bearing variable interest 
based on Interbank Equilibrium Interest Rate (“TIIE”) plus a maximum  
surcharge of 3.0% in 2016, and 2.5% in 2015; principal matures in  
different dates through 2021.	 	 1,960,528	 	 2,157,012

Total financial debt	 	 9,961,894	   	 4,978,426

Debt issuance costs		  (216,220)		  (176,456)

Total net financial debt	 	 9,745,674  	  	  4,801,970

Current portion		  (426,985) 		  (448,987)

Long-term debt	 $	 9,318,689	 $	 4,352,983

(1)	 On September 23, 2016, the Company signed an amendment to the long-term loan agreement related to the debt originally acquired on 
November 30, 2007 and previously refinanced in 2011 and 2014. Through this debt, a new debt of $200 million U.S. dollars was acquired 
under Tranche C, which was used to acquire the companies Cerámica San Lorenzo and Cordillera, with operations in 4 countries in 
South America. This transaction generated better financial conditions for the Company, extending its maturity to September 2021, and 
maintaining an average life of 3.9 years as of December 31, 2016. Based on the above, the original capitalized expenses are amortized 
during the remaining life of the new term through the effective interest method. Said amendment generated the payment of a commission 
of 4.2 million U.S. dollars, which is being amortized during the debt period based on the effective interest rate.

Long-term debt maturities as of December 31, 2016 are as follows:
Year	 Principal	 Interest (1)

2018			   $	    479,016	 $	    452,935
2019				    1,345,277		  418,439
2020				    1,353,170		  350,613
2021				    6,141,226		  216,831
				    $	 9,318,689	 $	 1,438,818

(1)	 Interest is determined based on variable rates at the end of the period.
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TIIE, LIBOR interest rates, and variable Argentinean rate were as follows:
	  
	 TIIE	 LIBOR	 VARIABLE 
Year	 %	 %	  %

2016	 5.8400	 0.9979	 27.6000
2015	 3.4200	 0.6127

b. The debt is guaranteed by a group of subsidiaries of the Company which represent 85% of the total assets and consolidated 
EBITDA.

c. Certain restrictions are included in some clauses of the long-term debt agreements of the Company as well as the obligation 
to maintain certain financial ratios. Such restrictions have been met at December 31, 2016.

16. Finance leases
The Company has obligations for finance leases contracted in local and foreign currency with different financial institutions to 
purchase machinery and equipment, and vehicles, which consist of the following:

	 2016	 2015

Finance lease denominated in US dollars, bearing variable interest based on LIBOR  
	 plus an interest rate of 2.24% for 2016 and 2015, with maturities of principal on  
	 different dates through 2020.	 $	 98,019	 $	 107,170

Finance lease denominated in U.S. dollars, bearing variable interest based on  
	 LIBOR plus an interest rate of 2.83% in 2016 and 2.83% in 2015. The principal  
	 matures at different dates through 2016.	 	 -	 	 636

Finance lease denominated in Mexican pesos, bearing variable interest based  
	 on TIIE plus an interest rate between 5.00% and 2.00% for 2016 and 2015.  
	 The principal matures at different dates through 2021.	 	 34,526	 	 28,861
	 	 Total net finance lease	 	 132,545	 	 136,667
		  Current portion		  (51,566)		  (36,474)
Long-term finance lease	 $	 80,979 	 $	 100,193

		  Present value of minimum 
	 Minimum rent payments	 lease payments

	 2016	 2015	 2016	 2015

Less than one year	 $	   57,201	 $	   41,358	 $	   51,566  	 $	   36,474
More than one year 		  85,560		  106,189		  80,979		  100,193
				    $	 142,761	 $	 147,547	 $	 132,545	 $	 136,667

Less amounts representing future interest expense		  (10,216)		  (10,880)
Present value of minimum lease payments	 $	 132,545  	 $	 136,667
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The expiration of long-term finance leases as of December 31, 2016 is as follows:
Year	 Principal	 Interest (1)

2017	 $	   51,567	 $	 5,636
2018		  39,913		  3,308
2019		  38,115		  1,138
2020		  2,917		  133
2021		  33		  1
	 $	 132,545	 $	 10,216

(1)	 Interest is determined based on variable rates at the end of the period.

These contracts are denominated in U.S. dollars and in Mexican pesos with variable interest rates based on the LIBOR and 
TIIE. The average effective interest rate was approximately 4.59% in 2016 and 3.79% in 2015.

17. Employee benefits
a) The main assumptions used for actuarial calculations of defined benefit plans:
	 2016	 2015

Discount of the projected benefit obligation at present value 	 6.75%	 6.50%
Salary increase	 4.80%	 4.50%

The determination of the discount rate of employee benefit obligations of the Company is based on the annual estimated 
cash flows which are determined with zero coupon government M bonds for a period of twenty years, assuming an average 
working life of its employees.

b) The amounts included in the consolidated statements of financial position arising from the Company’s obligations related 
to the defined benefit plans are:
	 2016	 2015

Vested benefit obligation	 $	 138,624	 $	 122,225
Non-vested benefit obligation	 	 176,819	 	 192,994
Defined benefit obligation	 $	 315,443	 $	 315,219

The effects recognized in the consolidated statements of other comprehensive income for 2016 and 2015 are as follows:
		  Other comprehensive 
	 Net income	 income
	 	 Net interest defined 	 Actuarial 
	 Current service cost	 benefit liability 	 remeasurements
	 Continuing		  Continuing 
2016	 Operations	 Total	 operations	 Total

Pension and retirement plans  	 $	   4,999	 $	   4,999	 $	 7,199	 $	 7,199	 $	   7,282
Seniority premium		  8,866		  8,866		  8,565		  8,565		  (22,145)
Total			   $	 13,865	 $	 13,865	 $	 15,764	 $	 15,764	 $	    (14,863)



74

		  Other comprehensive 
	 Net income	 income
		  Net interest defined	 Actuarial 
	 Current service cost	 benefit liability	 remeasurements
	 Continuing	 Discontinued		  Continuing	 Discontinued 
2015	 operations	 operations	 Total	 operations	 operations	 Total

Pension and retirement plans  	 $	      3,864  	 $	 88	 $	   3,952  	 $	      1,361	 $	 52	 $	 1,413  	 $	 7,418
Seniority premium		  9,295		  723		  10,018		  7,764		  666		  8,430		  11,477
Total			   $	    13,159	 $	 811	 $	 13,970	 $	      9,125	 $	 718	 $	 9,843	 $	 18,895

For the years ended in December 31, 2016 and 2015, $13,865 and $13,159 of costs for services, respectively, have been 
included in the statements of other comprehensive income as part of cost of sales and operating expenses.

The remeasurement of the liability for defined benefits recognized in other comprehensive income items is as follows:

	 2016	 2015

Amount accumulated in other comprehensive income items at the  
	 beginning of the period, net of taxes	 $	 54,482 	 $	 35,587
Actuarial remeasurements		  (21,233)		  26,992
Tax effect	 	 6,370		  (8,097)
Amount accumulated in other comprehensive income items at  
	 the end of the period, net of taxes	 $	 39,619 	 $	 54,482

c) Changes in the defined benefit obligation for pension and retirement plan and seniority premium plan:

Pension and retirement plan	 2016	 2015

Opening balance	 $	 156,733	 $	 148,602
	 Service cost		  4,999		  3,864
	 Interest cost		  7,199		  1,361
	 Actuarial losses and gains		  10,403		  10,597
	 Benefits paid	 	 (5,662)	 	 (7,691)
	 Ending balance	 $	 173,672	 $	 156,733

Seniority premium	 2016	 2015

	 Opening balance	 $	 158,486	 $	 132,991
	 Service cost		  8,866		  9,295
	 Interest cost		  8,565		  7,764
	 Actuarial losses and gains		  (31,636)		  16,395
	 Benefits paid	 	 (2,510)	 	 (7,959)
	 Ending balance	 $	 141,771	 $	 158,486

The average of the benefit obligation at December 31, 2016 and 2015 is 8.8 years.
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18. Stockholders’ equity
a) The minimum non-withdrawal fixed capital stock consists of ordinary shares, at no par value, and variable capital of ordinary 
shares, at no par value. All the shares are freely subscribed.

	 2016	 2015

	 Number of shares

Minimum fixed capital stock	 360,000,000	 360,000,000
Variable capital	 25,843,446	 22,053,769
				    385,843,446	 382,053,769

b) According to the current stock market regulations in effect and the Company’s by-laws, each year the Annual Ordinary 
Stockholders’ Meeting of Grupo Lamosa, S.A.B. de C.V. approves the maximum amount of resources that the Company can 
allocate to the acquisition of shares of its capital stock. The maximum amount of resources approved for 2016 and 2015 at 
the Annual Stockholders’ Meetings held on March 16, 2016 and March 12, 2015 amounted to $ 90 million Mexican pesos for 
each of the aforementioned years. In relation to the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company did not conduct 
transactions with shares of its capital stock.

c) At the general stockholders’ meetings held on March 16, 2016, dividends were declared for $151,588, from the net tax 
income account (CUFIN), equivalent 0.40 Mexican pesos per share; in addition, dividends were declared of 1%, equivalent 
to a new share for every 100 shares in circulation. This dividend resulted in an increase in a variable portion of capital stock, 
amounting to $25 issuing 3,789,697 shares.

d) At the general stockholders’ meetings held on March 12, 2015, dividends were declared for $108,813, from the net tax 
income account (CUFIN), equivalent 0.29 Mexican pesos per share; in addition, dividends were declared of 1%, equivalent to 
a new share for every 100 shares in circulation. This dividend resulted in an increase in a variable portion of capital stock, 
amounting to $25 issuing 3,752,175 shares.

e) Retained earnings include the statutory legal reserve. The General Corporate Law requires that at least 5% of net income 
of the year be transferred to the legal reserve until the reserve equals 20% of capital stock at par value (historical pesos). 
The legal reserve may be capitalized but may not be distributed unless the entity is dissolved.  The legal reserve must be 
replenished if it is reduced for any reason. At December 31, 2016 and 2015, the legal reserve, in historical pesos, was $480.

f) Stockholders’ equity, except restated paid-in capital and tax-retained earnings, will be subject to income tax payable 
by the Company at the rate in effect upon distribution. Any tax paid on such distribution may be credited against annual 
and estimated income tax payable of the year in which the tax on the dividend is paid and the two fiscal years following 
such payment.

g) The balances of the stockholders’ equity tax accounts are:

	 2016	 2015

Contributed capital account	 $	 377,455	 $	 365,184
Net tax income account (CUFIN) 		  16,919,239		  14,684,159
Total			   $	 17,296,694	 $	 15,049,343

h) Items of other comprehensive income consist of the following:

Derivative financial instruments valuation

The effective portion of the gains or losses arising from the measurement of financial instruments designated as cash-flows 
accounting hedges, net of income taxes, is recognized in other comprehensive income.

Actuarial remeasurements of defined benefit obligations

Actuarial remeasurements are recognized as other components of comprehensive income. During the period, the actuarial 
remeasurements corresponded solely to variations in actuarial assumptions for both the labor liability and the plan assets 
and are presented net of income taxes.
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Effects of foreign currency translation

This reserve is generated by converting the financial statements from functional to reporting currency of the foreign 
subsidiaries. This effect is not subject to deferred taxes calculation since the Company controls the time of the temporary 
difference reversal and it is not probable that such temporary difference will be reversed in the foreseeable future. During the 
period, there were no other movements that affect the accumulated balance of this reserve.

i) Capital management – For capital management purposes, the Company considers, in addition to stockholders’ equity and 
the items thereof, all the financing sources both internal and external, including liabilities with costs resulting from contracting 
short-term and long-term debt. Similarly, investment in working capital is considered by including items such as customers, 
inventories and suppliers, as well as cash and cash equivalents.

The Company is subject to obligations arising from contacting a secured loan, whose balance as of December 31, 2016 
amounted to $9,266,032 (a combination of U.S. dollars and Mexican pesos). The main obligations contained in such agreements 
include the following financial covenants 1:

•	 Debt service coverage (EBITDA2 / Net Financial Expenses plus the current portion of long-term debt) greater than or equal 
to 1.25.

•	 Leverage of total debt (total debt / EBITDA) less than or equal to 3.50.

•	 Minimum stockholders’ equity greater than or equal to $5,403,227.
1   According to the contracts, financial covenants are determined using figures from the financial statements under IFRS.
2  EBITDA is defined as the operating income added to depreciation and amortization and other items such as statutory employee profit 

sharing, doubtful accounts estimate, inventory write-downs, employee obligations, and impairment for long-lived assets

During 2016, the Company was in compliance with all of its financial commitments and required ratios.

Below are some of the major items that are considered for the management of the Company’s capital as of December 31, 
2016 and 2015.
	 2016	 2015

Total debt	 $	 9,880,005	 $	 4,938,637
Cash and cash equivalents		  538,866		  1,371,456
Net debt			  9,341,139		  3,567,181
Stockholders’ equity		  7,198,755		  6,471,062
Leverage measured as net debt to stockholders’ equity		  1.30		  0.55
Total debt main items: 
	 Secured loan	 $	 9,963,680	 $	 4,978,426
	 Other			  132,545		  136,667
	 Debt issuance costs		  (216,220)		  (176,456)
Total debt	 $	 9,880,005	 $	 4,938,637

The increase in the total debt during 2016 was due mainly to an amendment to the long term debt contract, as shown on 
note 15.

The generation of operating cash flows helped the Company meet its debt maturities scheduled for the year.
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19. Discontinued operations and assets classified as held for sale
On May 4, 2015, the Company finalized the sale of its Sanitaryware business, complying with the applicable legal approvals, 
including that corresponding to the Federal Economic Competition Commission. This transaction was announced on December 
19, 2014; consequently, the Company classified the assets and liabilities as held for sale and as a discontinued operation, 
which had an impact on the presentation of the consolidated financial statements. The amount received from this transaction 
was $544,735 and as a result of that, the Company recognized a loss of $71,411 in 2015.

The main activity of the Sanitaryware business that was part of the Ceramic operating segment was the design, manufacturing 
and sale of bathroom ceramic furniture.

Below it is shown the condensed financial information of the statement of financial position and income statement, whose 
operations have been reclassified and identified separately as discontinued operations.

Statements of income corresponding to the discontinued operation for the years ended December 31, 2015:

	 2015

Net sales		 $	 356,659
Cost of sales		  286,640
	 Gross profit	 	 70,019
Operating expenses		  69,142
	 Income before other income		  877
Other loss, net		  (363)
	 Operating income 		  514
Finance cost, net		  1,997
	 Loss before income taxes		  (1,483)
Income taxes		  8,518
	 Net income 		  7,035
Loss on the disposal process, net of income taxes		  (71,411)
	 Loss from discontinued operations, net	 $	  (64,376)

Cash flows related to discontinued operations are shown in the consolidated statements of cash flows in operating, investing 
and financing activities.

20. Operating expenses
	 2016	 2015

Selling		  $	 2,258,470	 $	 1,865,867
Administration		  937,891		  700,914
	 Total		  $	 3,196,361	 $	 2,566,781

21. Contingencies and commitments
The Company’s assets are not subject to any pending legal proceeding for which a contingency might arise, except for some 
ordinary or incidental litigation against which the Company is duly insured or the amounts of them are unimportant.
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22. Income taxes

a.	 The Company is subject to ISR, with a tax rate of 30% in Mexico. Likewise to a 35% rate in Argentina, 40% in Colombia, 28% 
in Peru and 35% in Chile.

	 ISR - The Company incurred ISR on a consolidated basis up to 2013 with its Mexican subsidiaries. As a result of the 2014 
tax reform, the tax consolidation regime was eliminated, and the Entity and its subsidiaries have the obligation to pay the 
deferred income tax determined as of that date during the subsequent five years beginning in 2014, as illustrated below, 
except for the income tax losses related to the sale of shares, which will be paid over a ten year period.

	 At the same time in which the 2014 Tax Law eliminated the tax consolidation regime, which permits an option to jointly 
calculate ISR in groups of legal entities (tax integration regime). Under this scheme, integrated entities owned either directly 
or indirectly in more than an 80% by an integrative entity, will be able to individually defer in 3 years part of the tax determined, 
which must be paid on the same date as the deadline for filing the return of the year following that in which the three-year 
period ends.

	 The Company and its subsidiaries decided to adhere to this new regime, and therefore they have determined the ISR 
incurred in 2014 as described previously.

Reconciliation of ISR assets and liabilities balances as of December 31, 2016, derived from such tax reforms, are as follows:

	 Deferred 
Item:	 tax assets	 ISR liabilities

Recognition of:
	 Assets and liabilities from tax losses	 $	 904,978	 $	    (134,124)
	 Liabilities from losses on sale of shares		  -		  (1,115,979)
	 Liabilities from tax integration regime		  -		  (221,025)
	 Balance 	 $	 904,978	 $	 (1,471,128)

The ISR liability relating to the tax consolidation and tax integration regime expires in the following years:

Year	 ISR liabilities

2017	 $	    234,200
2018		  292,343
2019		  232,322
2020		  232,322
2021 and subsequent		  479,941
	 $	 1,471,128

b. Income taxes for 2016 and 2015 consist of the following:

	 2016	 2015

Current ISR	 $	 896,106	 $	 563,132
Deferred ISR		  (242,643)		  (179,139)
	 Total		  $	 653,463	 $	 383,993
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c.	 The reconciliation of the statutory and effective ISR rates, expressed as a percentage of income before income taxes in 2016 
and 2015 is:

	 2016	 2015
	 %

Effective rate	 49.0	 33.0
Efectos de inflación	 (17.0)
Effect of permanent differences, mainly nondeductible expenses	 (3.0)	 (3.0)
Others	 1.0
Statutory rate	 30.0	 30.0

d. Other comprehensive income (OCI) amounts and items and deferred taxes affected during the period are:
	 Amount before	 Income taxes	 Amount net of 
	 income taxes	 in OCI	 income taxes

As of December 31, 2016:
Derivative financial instruments	 $	    71,324 	 $	 (21,397)	 $	    49,927
Remeasurement of defined benefits obligation	 	 21,233	 	 (6,370)	 	 14,863
Cumulative translation adjustment		  142,126				    142,126
				    $	  234,683	 $	 (27,767)	 $	  206,916

As of December 31, 2015:
Derivative financial instruments	 $	   (54,643) 	 $	 16,393	 $	   (38,250)
Remeasurement of defined benefits obligation	 	 (26,992)	 	 8,097	 	 (18,895)
Cumulative translation adjustment		  (36,581)		  -		  (36,581)
				    $	 (118,216)	 $	 24,490	 $	   (93,726)

e. The main items that give rise to a deferred ISR balance, as of December 31, are:

	 2016	 2015

Deferred ISR asset:
	 Allowance for doubtful accounts	 $	    29,244	 $	 21,246
	 Derivative financial instruments	 	 35,275	 	 65,838
	 Provisions		  148,719		  169,505
	 Employee benefits	 	 249,451	 	 75,155
	 Tax loss carryforwards		  904,978		  641,934
	 Other			  48,870		  29,317
		  Total		  1,416,537		  1,002,995
Deferred income tax liability:
	 Inventories		  (66,642)		  (84,999)
	 Real estate inventories		  (20,494)		  (20,494)
	 Property, plant and equipment		  (517,797)		  (323,576)
	 Commissions paid for debt restructuring		  (42,151)		  (23,750)
		  Total		  (647,084)		  (452,819)
	 Tax on assets		  32,039		  22,867
	 Deferred income tax asset, net	 $	  801,492  	 $	  573,043

	 Deferred income tax asset	 $	 1,028,832	 $	   573,043
	 Deferred income tax liability		  (227,340)		  -
		  Deferred income tax asset, net	 $	   801,492	 $	   573,043
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The benefits of restated tax loss carryforwards for which the deferred ISR asset has been recognized, can be recovered 
subject to certain conditions. Expiration dates and restated amounts as of December 31, 2016 are:

Year 	 Amount

2018	 $	        385
2019		  783
2020		  1,069
2021		  6,308
2022		  13,943
2023		  29,214
2024		  56,500
2025		  449,646
2026		  347,130
	 $	 904,978

23. Related party balances and transactions

a.	 The balances with related parties as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 were as follows:

	 2016	 2015

Accounts receivable - Estudio Cerámico de México, S.A. de C.V.	 $	   842	 $	 1,108
Accounts payable – Estudio Cerámico de México, S.A. de C.V.		  1,107

b.	 The transactions with related parties as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 were as follows:

	 2016	 2015

Sales of finished goods	 $	 15,869	 $	 8,114
Lease income		  6,291		  5,852
Other income, net		  2,982		  4,217

c	 For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, the direct short-term benefits granted to the key management personnel 
of the Company for $84,682 and $ 80,950, respectively. The Company does not have agreements or programs share-based 
payments.

d	 On August 4, 2015, the reversal of the ownership of various properties in full execution of the Trust created on December 
30, 1998 was held, a subsidiary member of the real estate business segment, through contract No. 851-00103 established 
before the fiduciary institution Banco Regional de Monterrey, SA, with the character of Settlor “A” and Trustee, an irrevocable 
Trust agreement of business activities (Fideicomiso “Fidudisa”) to another company (U-Calli Capital, SA de CV), which is a 
related party and who acts in the capacity of Settlor “B” and Trustee. The Trust’s purpose is to serve as a vehicle to facilitate 
the operation and commercial development of real estate.

	 The result from the operations of the trust will be fully distributed among the trustees in accordance with the provisions of 
the Trust agreement.

	 The share of profit of the Business Trust Fidudisa’s trustees was as follows:

	 2015

Grupo Inmobiliario Viber, S.A. de C.V.	 $	 (341)
U-Calli Capital, S.A. de C.V.		  (86)
	 $	 (427)
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24. Long-term provisions
Long-term provisions shown in the Company’s financial position mainly represent legal affairs with third parties and authorities 
to the detriment of one of the subsidiaries in Argentina, which will probably give rise to outflow of economic resources, which 
are not expected to be realized in the following twelve months. Once these issues are entirely solved, the Company will be 
indemnified by the seller under the share purchase-sale agreement for the shares of Cerámica San Lorenzo and Cordillera. 
As of December 31, 2016, the Company has determined that the effects of the time value of money of these provisions are 
not significant.

25. Information by operating segments
Information reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of 
segment performance focuses on types of goods provided. These segments are managed separately; each requires its own 
system of production, technology, and marketing and distribution strategies. Each market serves to different customer bases.

Transactions between segments are determined based on comparable prices to those that would be used with or between 
independent parties in comparable transactions.

The accounting, administrative and operating policies are the same as those described by the Company, which evaluates 
the performance of its segments based on operating income. Sales and transfers between segments are recorded in each 
segment as if they were made to third parties; i.e. at market prices.

The Company’s main products by segment are as follows:

Segment:	 Main products:
	 Ceramic	     Floor tiles, wall tiles
	 Adhesive	     Adhesives for floors and walls
	 Real estate	     Commercial and residential developments

The Company’s segments to be reported pursuant to IFRS 8, Operating Segments, are as follows:
December 31, 2016:	 Ceramic	 Adhesive	 Real estate	 Corporate and other	 Consolidated

Total net sales	 $	 10,164,954	 $	 3,459,634	 $	 136	 $	 3,031,173 	 $	 16,655,897
Intersegment sales		  (185)		  (5,283)				    (3,031,173)		  (3,036,641)
Net sales to third parties		  10,164,769		  3,454,351		  136				    13,619,256
Operating income (loss)		  1,775,657		  752,559		  (1,280)		  (85,765)		  2,441,171
Depreciation and amortization		  370,167		  30,698				    53,947		  454,812
Other provisions		  78,934		  17,937				    94,940		  191,811
Acquisition of property, plant and  
	 equipment and  intangible assets		  (1,731,163)		  (77,001)				    (22,929)		  (1,831,093)
Total assets 		  15,987,894		  1,292,064		  117,204		  5,364,715		  22,761,877
Total net sales		  3,671,211		  800,218		  (10,333)		  11,102,026		  15,563,122
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December 31, 2015:	 Ceramic	 Adhesive	 Real estate	 Corporate and other	 Consolidated

Total net sales	 $	 7,584,720	 $	 3,032,013	 $	 30,531	 $	 2,222,214 		  $12,869,478
Intersegment sales				    (11,084)				    (2,222,214)		  (2,233,298)
Net sales to third parties		  7,584,720		  3,020,929		  30,531				    10,636,180
Operating income (loss)		  1,136,517		  687,967		  322		  (36,514)		  1,788,292
Depreciation and amortization		  282,684		  31,936				    51,330		  365,950
Loss from discontinued operations,  
	 net of taxes		  64,376								        64,376
Other provisions		  60,525		  15,352				    67,926		  143,803
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  
	 and  intangible assets		  (887,180)		  (32,127)				    (55,620)		  (974,927)
Total assets 		  7,756,772		  1,919,631		  97,990		  6,001,173		  15,775,566
Total liabilities		  1,642,035		  702,689		  4,411		  6,955,369		  9,304,504

26. Information by geographic region
The information of the Company by geographic region is presented below:
	 Revenues from third parties	 Non-current assets

	 2016	 2015	 2016	 2015

North America	 $	 12,305,290	 $	 10,520,292	 $	 11,606,723	 $	 9,356,125
Central America		  128,650		  115,888		  14,003		  21,048
South America		  1,185,316		  -		  3,271,036		  -
				    $	 13,619,256	 $	 10,636,180	 $	14,891,762	 $	 9,377,173

27. Subsequent events
In January 2017, the Company began a closing process at one of its plants located in Argentina by formalizing a restructuring 
plan, and the communication thereof to those directly affected by the decision, which was taken in order to improve the 
profitability of the transactions in such country. The cost of the closing of this plant is estimated at $ 7.3 million U.S. dollars.

28. Approval of financial statements
On February 3, 2017, the issuance of the consolidated financial statements was authorized by Federico Toussaint Elosúa, 
Chief Executive Officer, and Tomás Luis Garza de la Garza, Chief Financial Officer. These consolidated financial statements are 
subject to the approval at the ordinary stockholders’ meeting, where they may modify the consolidated financial statements, 
based on the provisions set forth by the General Corporate Law.
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Grupo Lamosa is one of the few Mexican companies 
with a century-long track record of success. Today, it 
is one of the main ceramic producers, not only in 
Mexico, but also on a global level, commanding a 
major presence across the Americas.

The company manufactures and markets ceramic 
tiles and adhesives.

The actions implemented over the past few years, 
and particularly in 2016 with the acquisition of 
Cerámica San Lorenzo, have expanded the 
company’s activities in South America, diversifying 
operations and making Grupo Lamosa one of the 
main players in the industry.

Grupo Lamosa’s 125 years in the construction 
market are reflected in the recognition of 
its brands and the quality and 
performance of its high value 
added products.
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